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CIRCUIT RULE 27-3 CERTIFICATE 
 

(i) The telephone numbers, e-mail addresses, and office addresses of the 
attorneys for the parties; 

 
Stanley Young, Esq.  
Andrew Carl Byrnes, Esq.  
333 Twin Dolphin Road 
Redwood Shores, CA 94065 
syoung@cov.com 
650-632-4700 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs  
 
Daniel Pochoda, Esq.  
ACLU FOUNDATION OF ARIZONA 
3707 N. 7th Street, Suite 235 
Phoenix, AZ 85014 
dpochoda@acluaz.org 
602-650-1854 
Attorney for Plaintiffs  
 

Cecilia D. Wang 
ACLU FOUNDATION 
IMMIGRANTS’ RIGHTS PROJECT 
39 Drumm Street 
San Francisco, CA 94111 
cwang@aclu.org  
415-343-0775 
Attorney for Plaintiff Melendres  
 

Thomas P. Liddy, Esq.  
CIVIL SERVICES DIVISION 
MARICOPA COUNTY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
222 North Central Avenue, Suite 1100 
Phoenix, AZ 85005 
liddyt@mcao.maricopa.gov 
602-506-8541  
Attorney for Defendant Joseph Arpaio and Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office  
 



iii 

 
Michele M. Iafrate, Esq.  
IAFRATE & ASSOCIATES 
649 North Second Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85003 
miafrate@iafratelaw.com 
602-234-9775  
Attorney for Defendant Joseph Arpaio and Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office  
 

Deborah L. Garner, Esq.  
IAFRATE & ASSOCIATES 
649 North Second Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85003 
dgarner@iafratelaw.com  
602-234-9775  
Attorney for Defendant Joseph Arpaio and Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office  
 

Melvin McDonald 
JONES SKELTON & HOCHULI, PLC 
2901 N. Central Avenue, Suite 800 
Phoenix, AZ 85012-2728 
mmcdonald@jshfirm.com  
602-263-1700  
Attorney for Defendant Sheriff Joseph Arpaio  
 
Andre Segura, Esq.  
ACLU FOUNDATION 
IMMIGRANTS’ RIGHTS PROJECT 
125 Broad Street, 18th Fl.  
New York, NY 10004 
asegura@aclu.org  
212-549-2676 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
 

Anne Lai  
UCI School of Law 
401 E. Peltason Drive. Suite 3500 
Irvine, CA 92616 
alai@law.uci.edu 
949-824-9894 



iv 

 
Jorge M. Castillo  
MALDEF 
634 S. Spring Street, 11th Fl.  
Los Angeles, CA 90014 
jcastillo@maldef.org 
213-629-2512  
Attorney for Plaintiffs   
 
Richard K. Walker 
WALKER & PESKIND, PLLC 
16100 N. 71st Street, Suite 140 
Scottsdale, AZ 85254-2236 
rkw@azlawpartner.com 
480-483-6336 
Attorney for Defendant Maricopa County 
 
(ii) Facts showing the existence and nature of the claimed emergency; and  
 

A decision by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit is requested 

on May 12, 2015 or May 13, 2015, as the lower Court, as explained below, has set 

a hearing for 9:30 am on May 14, 2015, during which time it will likely issue 

further orders irreparably harming Petitioner. Due to unethical misconduct and a 

conflict of interest by the lower court judge, Petitioner files this petition for writ of 

mandamus to have him removed immediately from the subject case and his prior 

order vacated. 

(iii) When and how counsel for the other parties were notified and whether they 
have been served with the motion; or, if not notified and served, why that was not 
done.  
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  Counsel for the other parties were notified via email on May 11, 2015 of 

Intervenor Dennis L. Montgomery’s intention to file this petition for writ of 

mandamus.  Counsel will be served via email as soon as the petition has been filed 

with this Court.
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EMERGENCY PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS FOR RECUSAL 
PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 455 et seq. AND/OR 28 U.S.C. § 144 et seq. 

 
I. INTRODUCTION 

 
 A decision by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit is requested 

on May 12, 2015 or May 13, 2015, as the lower Court, as explained below, has set 

a hearing for 9:30 am on May 14, 2015, during which time it will likely issue 

further orders irreparably harming Petitioner. This Emergency Petition needs to be 

considered and ruled upon prior to that date since Judge G. Murray Snow has 

refused to recuse himself from the subject case. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1651, 

Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure (“FRAP”) Rule 21, and Local Circuit Rules 

21-1, 21-2, 21-3, 21-4, and 27-3, Petitioner Dennis L. Montgomery ("Petitioner") 

respectfully petitions for a writ of mandamus to compel the Respondent, the 

Honorable G. Murray Snow, to recuse himself or be disqualified from the case of 

Melendres, et. al. v. Arpaio, et. al. (CV-07-2513-PHX-GMS) in the U.S. District 

Court for the District of Arizona pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 455 and/or 28 U.S.C. 

§144, and to vacate his prior orders and actions at a minimum, relating to Dennis 

Montgomery, which Petitioner believes, began on April 21, 2015. Petitioner 

Montgomery is a whistleblower who worked for the National Security Agency 

(“NSA”) and Central Intelligence Agency (“CIA”). 

The Petitioner, who is an intervenor as a matter of right pursuant to Rule 24 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (“FRCP”), also filed an affidavit, motion, 
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and certificate of counsel requiring the disqualification of Judge Snow in the 

District Court. See Exhibit 1. 

Judge Snow was obligated under the statutory command of 28 U.S.C. § 144 

to immediately stop actions in the case and recuse and/or disqualify himself. 

Alternatively, even apart from the motion and affidavit under 28 U.S.C. § 144, 

Judge Snow is obligated to immediately recuse himself under the Code of Conduct 

for United States Judges and also under 28 U.S.C. § 455.  Distinguished ethics 

expert Professor Ronald Rotunda explains the requirement for disqualification 

and/or recusal in his declaration. See Exhibit 2. 

Nevertheless, Judge Snow has continued to act despite being informed of his 

ethical violations and conflict of interests.  Judge Snow issued three orders on May 

8, 2015, presenting a number of substantive, administrative and scheduling matters 

and set a status hearing for May 14, 2015. Judge Snow also ordered “[t]he Court 

will hold weekly status conferences” beginning May 14, 2015, May 22, 2015, May 

29, 2015 June 5, 2015, and June 12, 2015. See Exhibit 3. It is Judge Snow’s 

practice to issue substantive orders at these conferences. Judge Snow has already 

ordered that “[c]ounsel for Defendants will contact the chief legal counsel at the 

CIA, inform such legal counsel of MCSO’s receipt of the alleged CIA documents, 

this proceeding, the Court’s subsequent discovery orders and the CIA’s need to 

seek relief, if any, with respect to such documents within 14 days of today’s date.” 
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Id. Judge Snow continues, “[w]ith respect to the CIA documents, the Defendants 

will cooperate with the Monitor in identifying which documents are those provided 

by Dennis L. Montgomery to the MCSO, and, with respect to those documents, 

indicating to the parties their contents, the files they contain if any, the file’s 

general contents and organization, and the general content of the file.” Id.  

Even after the Motion to Disqualify was filed, Judge Snow set even more 

hearings for June 23, June 24, June 25, and June 26. After Petitioner moved to 

intervene as a matter of right and to disqualify Judge snow, he issued orders about 

documents pertaining to “workplace operations” responsive memoranda, motions 

to compel, materials and transcripts, motions under seal, objections, supplements, 

Notice of Completions, independent accountants, monitors, and other requirements 

from parties that Judge Snow should not have been authorized to order as here he 

has a clear conflict of interest and should be ordered to recuse himself or be 

disqualified, as discussed fully below. Attached are the orders issued after 

Petitioner filed his motions to intervene as a matter of right to disqualify Judge 

Snow. They show a flagrant disregard for 28 U.S.C. § 144 and 28 U.S.C. § 455.1    

Judge Snow cannot be the judge to run an investigation in the context of on-

going litigation into matters concerning Judge Snow’s own family, wife, or 

                                                 
1 On May 11, 2015, Petitioner was also forced to file an ethics complaint before 
this Court because of Judge Snow’s continued abuse of process and defiant 
violations of judicial ethics as set forth herein.  
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himself.  Judge Snow has an incurable conflict of interest by pursuing personal 

interests.  It is admitted and undisputed, spread upon the transcript in open court, 

that Judge Snow has launched his own personal inquiry – and thus an unethical 

abuse of judicial and court process – into whether there was an investigation of his 

wife and/or himself.   

It is also undisputed that Judge Snow has personal knowledge of disputed 

facts outside of the presentation of witnesses and evidence in the courtroom.  Judge 

Snow has undoubtedly already learned from his wife whether she made the 

statement. 

Judge Snow’s wife announced to the Grissom family, as acquaintances, in a 

Someburros restaurant in Arizona that his husband – Judge Snow – was 

determined to conduct the litigation in Melendres, et. al. v. Arpaio, et. al.  in such a 

way as to ensure that Sheriff Joe Arpaio would not be re-elected as Sheriff of 

Maricopa County, Arizona in 2016. Several witnesses confirmed this conversation. 

See “How Mexican Food Drew Couple into Heart of Arpaio Case,” by Yvonne 

Wingett Sanchez, Arizona Republic, May 8, 2015, attached as Exhibit 4. See also 

Transcript, April 24, 2015, pgs. 901-906, Exhibit 5.  

To the best of Petitioner’s knowledge after reviewing the records and public 

news reports, neither Judge Snow nor Judge Snow’s wife have denied that Judge 

Snow’s wife made the (voluntary) statement, nor sought to explain. 
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Instead, during the evidentiary hearing which began April 21, 2015, Judge 

Snow began on April 23, 2015, to conduct an inquiry into whether Sheriff Arpaio 

and the Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office (“MCSO”) hired Petitioner Dennis L. 

Montgomery to investigate Judge Snow’s wife.  That is, instead of addressing his 

own bias appearing from his wife’s statements, Judge Snow sought to cover-up, 

intimidate, threaten, and silence any inquiry into Judge Snow’s own bias.  In doing 

so, he embroiled Montgomery in false allegations that Petitioner was investigating 

Judge Snow’s family. 

Judge Snow’s questioning thus becomes exactly what Judge Snow’s wife 

predicted it would be:  Judge Snow is using the litigation to make sure that Sheriff 

Arpaio is not re-elected. It is also undisputed on the transcript that Judge Snow has 

undertaken his own factual investigation outside of court proceedings and apart 

from the witnesses or the parties.  After the lunch break on April 23, 2015, Judge 

Snow returned to the bench and announced that he had spoken to someone and 

learned additional facts outside of the courtroom (which are in fact inaccurate) 

about alleged payments from the Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office (“MCSO”) to 

Dennis Montgomery. See Exhibit 5.    

Thereupon, Judge Snow by order – not requested in discovery by any party – 

seized all documents relating to Dennis Montgomery, trampling upon 

Montgomery’s proprietary interests, attorney work productive privilege, and even 
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more sensitive information.  

II. RELIEF SOUGHT 
 

Petitioner seeks a writ of mandamus compelling the Honorable G. Murray 

Snow to recuse himself immediately or be disqualified from any further 

proceedings in the case of Melendres, et. al. v. Arpaio, et. al. in the U.S. District 

Court for the District of Arizona.  

Petitioner further seeks in the writ of mandamus that any orders or actions 

by Judge Snow, including orders for production of documents, relating at least to 

Petitioner Dennis Montgomery be vacated and his documents, information, and 

intellectual property returned to him. 

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS NECESSARY TO UNDERSTAND 
THE ISSUES PRESENTED BY THE PETITION 

 
A. Standing of Petitioner for Writ of Mandamus 

Petitioner Dennis L. Montgomery has a personal stake in this matter to bring 

this Petition now, including because his intellectual property, records, documents, 

and work have been seized by order of Judge Snow.  Petitioner provided his work 

and intellectual property to the MCSO under contract that preserved his ownership 

of the proprietary information, trade secrets, data, and work belonging to him.  By 

order in open court on April 23 and April 24, 2015, and by a sealed order on April 

27, 2015, ECF # 1033.  Petitioner’s intangible personal property has been taken 

and his constitutional rights, including the work product privilege with his attorney 
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have been trampled.  Petitioner has an interest in bringing this Petition regardless 

of whether any observer believes the Court’s taking was lawful or unlawful. 

Petitioner advises that the ownership of this intellectual property has already 

been litigated.  The U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada has already ruled 

that (1) the data and intellectual property belongs to Dennis Montgomery, (2) none 

of the data or information is classified, (3) the U.S. Government was required to 

return all of the data and information to Dennis Montgomery, and (4) the U.S. 

Government deceived the Court in falsely claiming that the data, information, 

and/or intellectual property did not belong to Dennis Montgomery. See Dennis 

Montgomery and the Montgomery Family Trust v. eTreppid Technologies, LLC, 

Warren Trepp and the U.S. Department of Defense, Case Nos. 3:06-CV-00056-

PMP-VPC and  3:06-CV-00145-PMP-VPC, Order, Judge Philip M. Pro, March 

19,2007, and In the Mater of the Search of:  The Residence Located at 12720 

Buckthorne Lane, Reno, Nevada, and Storage Units 136, 140, 141, 142 and 143, 

Double R Storage, 888 Madestro Drive, Reno, Nevada, Case Nos. 3:06-CV-0263-

PMP-VPC and 3:06-MJ-00023-VPC, Order, Magistrate Judge Valerie P. Cooke, 

November 28, 2006.  These Orders are res judicata and are now final.  

Furthermore, that previous litigation also indirectly refutes the libel and slander 

about Dennis Montgomery. 

Petitioner Dennis Montgomery is alleged to have performed confidential 
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work for the MCSO but it had nothing to do with Judge Snow’s attempts to cover 

up Judge Snow’s wife’s public statements about Judge Snow’s bias in the case and 

determination to use the case to throw an election campaign for Sheriff of 

Maricopa County. 

Because Judge Snow’s own family is now involved, his objectivity is 

compromised. Yet while harming Sheriff Arpaio in his re-election campaign in 

2016, Judge Snow is publicly slandering Montgomery in open court, before many 

local and national news reporters keenly interested in the court proceedings, 

portraying Montgomery as a con-artist and a “known scammer.” Thus, Petitioner is 

caught in a battle not of his own choosing and being used as a pawn in harming 

Arpaio. 

B. Case Has been Dramatically Transformed Into New Matters 

The original case of Melendres v. Arpaio in the U.S. District Court for the 

District of Arizona from which these matters arise ended with a final order on 

October 2, 2013.  On that date, Judge Snow entered a “Supplemental Permanent 

Injunction / Judgment Order.”  Sheriff Joe Arpaio and the Maricopa County 

Sheriff’s Office filed a Notice of Appeal from the October 2, 2013, final order to 

the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, which appeal was heard.  This 

confirms that that October 2, 2013, Order was a final order. 

Now 19 months after the final order, post-judgment proceedings are focused 
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on allegations that the Court’s permanent injunction was not complied with.   

But then, on April 23, 2015, Judge Snow launched an entirely different and 

irrelevant inquiry concerning Dennis L. Montgomery during the testimony of 

Sheriff Joe Arpaio.  The case fundamentally changed once more on April 23, 2015. 

It will be nearly impossible to understand these matters without recognizing 

that the case of Melendres, et. al. v. Arpaio, et. al. has taken several dramatic turns 

and that now current developments bear no relationship to the original litigation.  

Plaintiffs brought proceedings to enforce the Permanent Injunction.  However, on 

or about April 21-24, 2015, the case entered a new, irrelevant and improper phase 

focusing on Petitioner Dennis Montgomery for the first time. 

C. Mandamus Required for Recusal of Judge Snow 

In the hearing in this case on April 23, 2015, Judge G. Murray Snow was 

conducting the questioning of Sheriff Joe Arpaio.  At Page 646, lines 4-6, Judge 

Snow asked Sheriff Arpaio:  “Q. Did you ever -- you see that the article says 

that what Montgomery was actually doing was investigating me. You see that 

that's what the article says?”   

Sheriff Arpaio answered, “It’s not true.”  

Yet Judge Snow nevertheless completely believes hearsay by reporter 

Stephen Lemons at an unreliable, disreputable, partisan blog known as The 
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Phoenix New Times.2  Lemons, whose blog hates Sheriff Arpaio and has done 

everything possible to have his reputation tarnished and removed from office, is 

pulling the strings and writing the script.  Being emotionally compromised 

concerning his own wife and family, Judge Snow seized on it for his and his wife’s 

own personal interests. 

During the evidentiary hearing, Judge Snow embarked on an unethical 

detour to personally engage in extensive questioning focused on himself and his 

wife and allegations about Dennis Montgomery. The detour in the case began 

when reports were published that Judge Snow’s wife stated to several witnesses at 

a restaurant that her husband, Judge Snow, wanted to do everything possible in his 

conduct of this case to make sure that Sheriff Arpaio is not re-elected as Sheriff in 

the upcoming 2016 elections. 

But instead of Judge Snow recusing himself because of the appearance of 

bias from his wife’s public comments, Judge Snow has confused Dennis 

Montgomery’s alleged other, unrelated work for MCSO as being about Judge 

Snow.  This shows the effects of a lack of objectivity that results from personal 

interests.  A different judge must hear these matters. 

Neither Judge Snow nor Judge Snow’s wife have even denied that Judge 

Snow’s wife made the (voluntary) statement that Judge Snow was determined to 
                                                 
2 The Phoenix New Times, owned by Voice Media Group, hires pornographers, 
convicted felons and drug addicts as bloggers.  
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use the case to ensure that Sheriff Arpaio would lose re-election in the 2016 

campaign, denied that Judge Snow is actually conducting the case so as to cause 

Sheriff Arpaio to lose re-election, nor sought to explain or place in context his 

wife’s comments. To the contrary, it has been confirmed by Sheriff Arpaio’s office 

that the statements were made. See Exhibit 5, 654:6 – 656:6, 961:15 – 967:19, 

656:3 – 660:16.  

D. Petitioner Has No Adequate Remedy at Law 

Petitioner Dennis Montgomery has no adequate remedy at law, as he is 

being dragged into a case and publicly defamed, with continuing and incalculable 

further damage to his reputation, because of the lack of objectivity of Judge Snow 

about personal interests of the judge. Importantly, Judge Snow refuses to remove 

himself on the case and instead continues to flagrantly and defiantly violate 28 

U.S.C. § 144 and 28 U.S.C. § 455 and the Code of Conduct for United States 

Judges.  

 Petitioner followed the procedure for recusal and/or disqualification 

prescribed under 28 U.S.C. § 144.  Yet Respondent Judge Snow refused to recuse 

himself from the proceedings and has instead continued to act and issue orders in 

the case.  Petitioner has sought all available means to redress this blatant refusal to 

follow the law, including today having been forced to file a judicial complaint with 

the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit given Judge Snow’s defiant refusal 
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to recuse himself and the continuing violations of the judicial canons, rules of 

ethics and 28 U.S.C. § 144 and 28 U.S.C. § 455. 

 Petitioner is thus left with no other remedy available to him to compel 

Respondent Judge Snow to follow the law other than to file this petition. 

E. No Prejudice or Delay to a Pending Jury Trial 

Because this case was decided on the merits 19 months ago, transferring any 

remaining post-judgment proceedings to a different judge will not prejudice or 

disrupt a pending trial, which finished long ago.  Furthermore, the post-judgment 

actions do not require any special knowledge of the prior proceedings, but only 

concern the Plaintiffs’ allegations that the injunction has not been followed.  A 

different judge is fully capable of understanding and applying the Court’s 

Permanent Injunction. No particular institutional memory is required at this phase 

of the case. 

IV. GOVERNING LAW:  MANDAMUS ON FAILURE TO 
RECUSE FOR DISQUALIFICATION 

 
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 144: 

Whenever a party to any proceeding in a district court makes 
and files a timely and sufficient affidavit that the judge before 
whom the matter is pending has a personal bias or prejudice 
either against him or in favor of any adverse party, such judge 
shall proceed no further therein, but another judge shall be 
assigned to hear such proceeding.  

 
The affidavit shall state the facts and the reasons for the belief 
that bias or prejudice exists, and shall be filed not less than ten 
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days before the beginning of the term at which the proceeding 
is to be heard, or good cause shall be shown for failure to file it 
within such time. A party may file only one such affidavit in 
any case. It shall be accompanied by a certificate of counsel of 
record stating that it is made in good faith.  

 
Mandamus is a proper remedy for the refusal of a judge to recuse himself, 

although some Circuits hold that mandamus applies pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 455 

rather than 28 U.S.C. § 144.  In re: School Asbestos Litigation, 977 F.2d 764 

(C.A.3 (Pa.), 1992); In re:  International Business Machines Corp., 687 F.2d 591 

(C.A.2, 1982).  See, also, Cynthia Gray, “The Line Between Legal Error and 

Judicial Misconduct: Balancing Judicial Independence and Accountability,” 32 

Hofstra L. Rev. 1245 (2004). 

The U.S. Courts of Appeals for the First, Fifth, Sixth, Tenth, and Eleventh 

Circuits have said that close questions should be decided in favor of recusal. See 

Republic of Pan. v. American Tobacco Co., 217 F.3d 343, 347 (5th Cir. 2000) 

(citing In re Chevron, 121 F.3d 163, 165 (5th Cir. 1997)); In re United States, 158 

F.3d 26, 30 (1st Cir. 1998); Nichols v. Alley, 71 F.3d 347, 352 (10th Cir. 1995); 

United States v. Dandy, 998 F.2d 1344, 1349 (6th Cir. 1993); United States v. 

Kelly, 888 F.2d 732, 744 (11th Cir. 1989).  

In SCA Servs. v. Morgan, 557 F.2d 110 (7th Cir. 1977), mandamus was 

ordered for disqualification because of the personal interests of the judge.  There, 

the judge's brother was an attorney in the firm appearing before the judge. Similar 
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to the relationship between Judge Snow and his wife in the case at bar: “This 

appearance of partiality begins with the natural assumption that brothers enjoy a 

close personal and family relationship and, consequently, would be inclined to 

support each other's interests. When one’s brother is a lawyer in the firm 

representing a party before his brother who is the judge in the case, the belief may 

arise in the public's mind that the brother's firm and its clients will receive favored 

treatment, even if the brother does not personally appear in the case.” Id. at 116. 

The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit also found that “the judge's 

‘Memorandum of Decision’ suggests that he made a confidential inquiry, 

presumably to his brother, to determine in what capacity Donald A. Morgan was 

involved in this case (Petitioner's App. D-3). Counsel were not present and were 

unaware of the inquiry at the time it was made. While it is understandable why the 

judge may have felt his brother could present the most accurate evidence as to his 

role in the pending litigation, the judge's inquiry creates an impression of private 

consultation and appearance of partiality which does not reassure a public already 

skeptical of lawyers and the legal system." Id. The Seventh Circuit granted a 

petition for writ of mandamus requiring the trial court to abstain from presiding 

over further proceedings.  

The same situation appears here. Judge Snow will have access to his wife's 

explanation outside of court as to whether she did or did not make the statement at 
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issue and has a personal interest regarding his wife.  He also admits on the record 

to having conducted his own factual investigation outside of the courtroom. 

In In re Faulkner, 856 F.2d 716 (5th Cir. 1988), the U.S. Court of Appeals 

for the Fifth Circuit reversed a refusal to recuse where a relative of the judge was a 

major participant in transactions relating to the defendant’s indictment and “that 

relative had communicated to the judge . . . material facts and her opinions and 

attitudes regarding those facts.” Id. at 721.  

Also on point is In re Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 919 F.2d 1136 (6th Cir. 

1990), where the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, sitting en banc, 

required recusal. The trial judge initially recused himself because his daughter’s 

law firm represented four of the claimants. The judge later separated the cases and 

planned to try the three claims in which his daughter’s firm was not involved. On 

mandamus petition the court reversed: A “decision on the merits of any important 

issue in any of the seven cases . . . could constitute the law of the case in all of 

them, or involve collateral estoppel, or might be highly persuasive as precedent.” 

Id. at 1143. The court did not specify whether it based its decision on section 

455(a) or section 455(b)(5)(ii), but a concurring opinion, joined by seven judges, 

emphasized that there was an actual conflict of interest under section 455(b)(5) as 

well as an appearance of partiality. 

Moreover, the Code of Conduct for United States Judges governs: 
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CANON 2 requires: 
     * * * 

(B) Outside Influence. A judge should not allow family, social, 
political, financial, or other relationships to influence judicial conduct 
or judgment. A judge should neither lend the prestige of the judicial 
office to advance the private interests of the judge or others nor 
convey or permit others to convey the impression that they are in a 
special position to influence the judge. A judge should not testify 
voluntarily as a character witness.  

 
CANON 3 requires:  

     * * * 
(C) Disqualification.  
(1) A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in a proceeding in 
which the judge’s impartiality might reasonably be questioned, 
including but not limited to instances in which:  
(a)the judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party, or 
personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the 
proceeding;  

* * * 
(c)the judge knows that the judge, individually or as a fiduciary, or 
the judge’s spouse or minor child residing in the judge’s household, 
has a financial interest in the subject matter in controversy or in a 
party to the proceeding, or any other interest that could be affected 
substantially by the outcome of the proceeding;  
(d)the judge or the judge’s spouse, or a person related to either 
within the third degree of relationship, or the spouse of such a 
person is:  

* * * 
(iii) known by the judge to have an interest that could be 
substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding; or  
(iv) to the judge’s knowledge likely to be a material witness in the 
proceeding;  

 
Also pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 455: 

(a) Any justice, judge, or magistrate judge of the United States shall 
disqualify himself in any proceeding in which his impartiality might 
reasonably be questioned.   
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(b) He shall also disqualify himself in the following circumstances: 
   

(1) Where he has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party, or 
personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the 
proceeding;   

* * * 
(4) He knows that he, individually or as a fiduciary, or his spouse or 
minor child residing in his household, has a financial interest in the 
subject matter in controversy or in a party to the proceeding, or any 
other interest that could be substantially affected by the outcome of 
the proceeding;   

 
(5) He or his spouse, or a person within the third degree of 
relationship to either of them, or the spouse of such a person:   

 
(i) Is a party to the proceeding, or an officer, director, or trustee of a 
party;   

 
(ii) Is acting as a lawyer in the proceeding;   

 
(iii) Is known by the judge to have an interest that could be 
substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding;   

 
(iv) Is to the judge’s knowledge likely to be a material witness in the 
proceeding.   

 
* * * 

 Recusal or disqualification is required when judicial conflicts create the 

appearance that the court's impartiality may be called into question, and "could 

suggest, to an outside observer, such a 'high degree of favoritism or antagonism' to 

defendants' position that 'fair judgment is impossible.'  Liteky v. United States, 510 

U.S. 540, 555, 127 L. Ed. 2d 474, 114 S. Ct. 1147 (1994). The courts strive to 

eliminate even the appearance of bias. “Thus even if there is no bias in fact, an 

appearance of bias or prejudice requires recusal if it is sufficient to raise a question 
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in the mind of 'the average citizen' about a judge's impartiality.” York v. United 

States, 785 A.2d 651, 655 (D.C. 2001). 

V. ARGUMENT:  STATEMENT OF REASONS WHY THE 
WRIT SHOULD ISSUE 

 
A. Jurisdiction is Proper Under the All Writs Act., 28 U.S.C. § 1651. 
 

 This Court has jurisdiction under the All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1651. The 

All Writs Act is invoked by federal courts of appeals to a district judge, or by the 

Supreme Court to issue a writ to a lower court judge. Allied Chemical Corp. v. 

Daiflon, Inc., 449 U.S. 33 (1980). 

 The All Writs Act states: 
 

The Supreme Court and all courts established by Act of Congress may 
issue all writs necessary and appropriate in aid of their respective 
jurisdictions and agreeable to the usages and principles of law. 

 
28 U.S.C. § 1651.  "The authority of federal courts to issue writs of mandamus is 

derived from the All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1651."  United States v. Bell, 2008 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91803, 7-8 (E.D. Tenn. Sept. 29, 2008) citing In re Parker, 49 

F.3d 204, 206 (6th Cir. 1995). Mandamus is defined as "[a] writ issued by a 

superior court to compel a lower court or a government officer to perform 

mandatory or purely ministerial duties correctly." Coles v. Granville, 448 F.3d 853, 

861 n. 2 (6th Cir. 2006) (citing Black's Law Dictionary p. 973 (7th ed. 1999). 

Mandamus is a remedy to be invoked in extraordinary situations where the 

petitioner can show a clear and indisputable right to the relief sought. Will v. 
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Calvert Fire Ins. Co., 437 U.S. 655, 661-62, 98 S. Ct. 2552, 57 L. Ed. 2d 504 

(1978); Kerr v. United States District Court, 426 U.S. 394, 402-03, 96 S. Ct. 2119, 

48 L. Ed. 2d 725 (1976). 

The case at hand is precisely one of those "extraordinary situations" that the 

court in Will described.  Petitioner has been subject to repeated violations of his 

constitutional rights and the ethics complaint Petitioner filed has fallen on deaf 

ears. It is mandatory that Respondent Judge Snow remove himself from the 

proceedings, yet he defiantly refuses to do so and continues to issue orders that 

have caused and will cause more irreparable damage to Petitioner.   

B. Case Must Be Transferred to Another Judge  
 
 For a United States judge, recusal and/or disqualification are mandated by 

statute under 28 U.S.C. § 144.  The language of the statute does not leave any 

room for discretion.  The judge "shall proceed no further therein." If an affidavit 

meets the rule's standards, the judge has a duty to recuse himself. Morse v. Lewis, 

54 F.2d 1027, 1031 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 286 U.S. 557, 76 L. Ed. 1291, 52 S. Ct. 

640 (1932) (emphasis added). 

Petitioner, with well-documented showings of extra-judicial bias and 

conflicts of interest by Judge Snow, filed a timely affidavit and that of ethics expert 

Professor Ronald Rotunda in an attempt to have Judge Snow remove himself from 

the proceedings, as provided by 28 U.S.C. § 144. See Exhibits 1, 2.  
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Recusal is a mandatory act, and therefore “ministerial” within the law of a 

writ of mandamus.  There is no requirement for any subjective decision. 

The disqualification statute, 28 U.S.C. §144, is mandatory and 
automatic, requiring only a timely and sufficient affidavit alleging 
personal bias or prejudice of the judge. The judge is a silent 
defendant, unable to make findings on the truth or falsity of the 
affiant's allegations, and truth must be presumed. United States v. 

Hanrahan, 248 F. Supp. 471, 474 (D.D.C. 1965)(Emphasis 
added);  and the allegations may be based upon information and 
belief, Berger v. United States, 255 U.S. 22, 34, 65 L. Ed. 481, 41 S. 
Ct. 230 (1920). 

  

Brotherhood of Locomotive Firemen & Enginemen v. Bangor & Aroostook 

Railroad Co., 380 F.2d 570, 576 (D.C. 1967). 
 

Nothing can create more of the appearance of a conflict of interest than 

when a presiding judge has a personal interest in the litigation or matters related to 

it.  The applicable standard for recsual is whether a judge's participation in a 

lawsuit will create the appearance of bias and prejudice. See Liteky v. United 

States, 510 U.S. 540, 555, 127 L. Ed. 2d 474, 114 S. Ct. 1147 (1994)); Jackson v. 

Microsoft Corp., 135 F. Supp. 2d 38, 40 (D.D.C. 2001), supra.   

 Recusal is required when there is even the appearance that the court's 

impartiality may be called into question, and “could suggest, to an outside 

observer, such a 'high degree of favoritism or antagonism' to defendants' position 

that 'fair judgment is impossible.'” And, indeed much more than an appearance of 

extra-judicial bias and conflicts of interest are at issue here.  Liteky v. United 

States, 510 U.S. 540, 555, 127 L. Ed. 2d 474, 114 S. Ct. 1147 (1994)); See also 
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Jackson v. Microsoft Corp., 135 F. Supp. 2d 38, 40 (D.D.C. 2001) (recusal was 

proper because the judge "ha[d] created an appearance of personal bias or 

prejudice").  

As explained in the legal opinion of Professor Ronald Rotunda, an expert on 

Professional Responsibility and Constitutional Law, Judge Snow now has – by his 

own admission – an incurable personal interest in the case.  At this stage, there is 

no jury and Judge Snow is the sole decision-maker in the case in this phase. 

Judge Snow admits that the investigation now concerns – at least as the 

Judge believes – his own wife and family, including himself. As explained by 

Professor Ronald Rotunda, Judge Snow should recuse himself including for the 

following reasons, including with additional elucidation from the Code of Conduct 

and 28 U.S.C. § 455. 

Pursuant to Code of Conduct Canon 2(B) and Canon 3(C)(1)(d)(iii) and 28 

U.S.C. § 455(a), Judge Snow's impartiality may reasonably be questioned, because 

the Judge has a personal interest running an inquiry concerning possible 

investigations of himself and his family, and also, according to Professor Rotunda, 

because the transcript indicates Judge Snow investigating matters on his own 

outside of the evidentiary hearing. 

Pursuant to Code of Conduct Canon 3(C)(1)(a) and 28 U.S.C. § 455(b)(1), 

Judge Snow has personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the 
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proceeding.  The Court determined that an inquiry about investigations in the 

context of on-going litigation into his wife's statement should come within the 

current case.  Yet, undoubtedly, Judge Snow has or will find out from his wife if 

she made the statement or not.  Therefore, Judge Snow has personal knowledge of 

disputed facts which the Court has determined to be relevant. 

To the extent that the Court determines the topic to be relevant at all, 

pursuant to Code of Conduct Canon 3(C)(1)(d)(iv) and 28 U.S.C. § 455(b)(5)(iv), 

Judge Snow's wife would be a likely witness as to whether she made the statement 

or not and/or what she meant and the context, etc. 

Sheriff Arpaio testified that Dennis Montgomery had nothing to do with any 

investigation of Judge Snow or his wife.  Yet when Court resumed after lunch on 

April 23, 2015, at page 657-660 of the transcript, Judge Snow immediately started 

up again with further inquiries about Dennis Montgomery’s alleged funding and 

records.  Judge Snow’s orders after the lunch recess indicated a determination to 

undertake a major examination of Dennis Montgomery. 

 In addition and separately, the language of the Judicial Code leaves no doubt 

that that recusal process is to be self-executing, as the judge should not unethically 

wait for a recusal motion to be filed.  

It [the Code of Conduct] is intended to be used by a judge at the start 
of each case as a checklist to assist in deciding whether at that point 
he should disqualify himself from any participation in the proceedings 
. . . [E]ven before appraising participation in the case under the 
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[Judicial Code], the judge should first consult his own emotions and 
conscience, and pass an 'internal test of freedom' from disabling 
conflicts. 

 
Leslie W. Abramson, Judicial Disqualification Under Canon 3 of the Code of 

Judicial Conduct 10 (2d ed. 1992).  

An impartial judiciary is a fundamental component of the system of justice 

in the United States. The right to a “neutral and detached judge” in any proceeding 

is protected by the Constitution and is an integral part of maintaining the public’s 

confidence in the judicial system. Ward v. City of Monroeville, 409 U.S. 57, 61-62 

(1972). See also Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc., 446 U.S. 238, 243 (1980) (“powerful” 

constitutional interest in fair adjudicative procedure). Congress has sought to 

secure the impartiality of judges by requiring them to step aside, or in some 

instances, disqualify themselves, in various circumstances. 

 “In order to preserve the integrity of the judiciary, and to ensure that justice 

is carried out in each individual case, judges must adhere to high standards of 

conduct.” York v. United States, 785 A.2d 651, 655 (D.C. 2001).  “A judge should 

disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be 

questioned . . .” ABA Code Of Judicial Conduct Canon 3(C)(1) see also Scott v. 

United States, 559 A.2d 745, 750 (D.C. 1989) (en banc). 

VI. CONCLUSION   

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 144 and 28 U.S.C. § 455, this Court must 
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respectfully disqualify Judge Snow, order that this case be assigned to another 

judge, and order that any orders, at least with regard to Petitioner Dennis 

Montgomery, be vacated forthwith. Petitioner Dennis Montgomery notified each of 

parties and counsel that this Emergency Petition is being filed.  

Dated:  May 11, 2015   Respectfully submitted, 

        /s/ Larry Klayman   
      Larry Klayman, Esq.  
      General Counsel 

Freedom Watch, Inc. 
D.C. Bar No. 334581 
2020 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Suite 345 
Washington, DC 20006 
Telephone: (310) 595-0800 
Email: leklayman@gmail.com 

 
Jonathon Moseley  
Virginia State Bar No. 41058 
Freedom Watch, Inc. 
2020 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W., Suite 345 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(310) 595-0800 
leklayman@gmail.com 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
Of Counsel  
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES 
 

 Pursuant to Circuit Rule 28-2.6, Petitioner Dennis Montgomery states that 

this case is related to the case of Melendres v. Arpaio, Case No. CV-07-2513-

PHX-GMS, that is currently pending before the U.S. District Court for the District 

of Arizona.  
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
 

I certify that this petition complies with the page limitations of Fed. R. App. 

21(d), and that this petition complies with the typeface requirements of Fed. R. App. P. 

32(a)(5) and the type style requirements of Fed. R. App. P. 32(a)(6) because it has been 

prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface using Microsoft Word in 14-point Times 

New Roman style. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on May 11, 2015, I electronically filed the foregoing 
document with the Clerk of the Court by using the CM/ECF system, I hereby 
certify that I have served the following in the manner indicated: 
 
 
Honorable G. Murray Snow 
United States District Courthouse 
Sandra Day O’Connor U.S. Courthouse, Suite 322 
401 West Washington Street, SPC 75 
Phoenix, AZ 85003-2160 
(Service via Federal Express Priority Overnight Delivery)  
 
Stanley Young, Esq.  
Andrew Carl Byrnes, Esq.  
333 Twin Dolphin Road 
Redwood Shores, CA 94065 
syoung@cov.com 
650-632-4700 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
(Service via Email)   
 
Daniel Pochoda, Esq.  
ACLU FOUNDATION OF ARIZONA 
3707 N. 7th Street, Suite 235 
Phoenix, AZ 85014 
dpochoda@acluaz.org 
602-650-1854 
Attorney for Plaintiffs  
(Service via Email) 
 

Cecilia D. Wang 
ACLU FOUNDATION 
IMMIGRANTS’ RIGHTS PROJECT 
39 Drumm Street 
San Francisco, CA 94111 
cwang@aclu.org  
415-343-0775 



28 

Attorney for Plaintiff Melendres  
(Service via Email) 
 

Thomas P. Liddy, Esq.  
CIVIL SERVICES DIVISION 
MARICOPA COUNTY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
222 North Central Avenue, Suite 1100 
Phoenix, AZ 85005 
liddyt@mcao.maricopa.gov 
602-506-8541  
Attorney for Defendant Joseph Arpaio and Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office  
(Service via Email) 
 
Michele M. Iafrate, Esq.  
IAFRATE & ASSOCIATES 
649 North Second Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85003 
miafrate@iafratelaw.com 
602-234-9775  
Attorney for Defendant Joseph Arpaio and Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office  
(Service via Email) 
 

Deborah L. Garner, Esq.  
IAFRATE & ASSOCIATES 
649 North Second Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85003 
dgarner@iafratelaw.com  
602-234-9775  
Attorney for Defendant Joseph Arpaio and Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office 
(Service via Email)   
 

Melvin McDonald 
JONES SKELTON & HOCHULI, PLC 
2901 N. Central Avenue, Suite 800 
Phoenix, AZ 85012-2728 
mmcdonald@jshfirm.com  
602-263-1700  
Attorney for Defendant Sheriff Joseph Arpaio 
(Service via Email)   
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Andre Segura, Esq.  
ACLU FOUNDATION 
IMMIGRANTS’ RIGHTS PROJECT 
125 Broad Street, 18th Fl.  
New York, NY 10004 
asegura@aclu.org  
212-549-2676 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
(Service via Email) 
 

Anne Lai  
UCI School of Law 
401 E. Peltason Drive. Suite 3500 
Irvine, CA 92616 
alai@law.uci.edu 
949-824-9894 
(Service via Email) 
 
Jorge M. Castillo  
MALDEF 
634 S. Spring Street, 11th Fl.  
Los Angeles, CA 90014 
jcastillo@maldef.org 
213-629-2512  
Attorney for Plaintiffs  
(Service via Email)   
 
Richard K. Walker 
WALKER & PESKIND, PLLC 
16100 N. 71st Street, Suite 140 
Scottsdale, AZ 85254-2236 
rkw@azlawpartner.com 
480-483-6336 
Attorney for Defendant Maricopa County  
(Service via Email)  
 

/s/ Larry Klayman   
      Larry Klayman, Esq.  
      General Counsel 

Freedom Watch, Inc. 
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D.C. Bar No. 334581 
2020 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W., Suite 345 
Washington, DC 20006 
Telephone: (310) 595-0800 
Email: leklayman@gmail.com 
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II. QUALIFICATIONS 

3. Before I joined Chapman U. in August 2008, I was the George Mason University 

Foundation Professor of Law from August 2002 (when I started teaching at George 

Mason University School of Law), until August 2006, when I became University 

Professor and Professor of Law at George Mason University School of Law.  Please see 

my resume, Exhibit 1, for more information, including a list of my publications. 

4. Prior to that (from 1993 until 2002), I was the Albert E. Jenner, Jr. Professor of Law at 

the University of Illinois.  I left the University of Illinois in 2002, and then began 

working full-time at George Mason University. 

5. I am a magna cum laude graduate of Harvard Law School, where I served as a member of 

the Harvard Law Review.  I later clerked for Judge Walter R. Mansfield of the United 

States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.  During the course of my legal career, I 

have practiced law in Illinois, New York, Washington, D.C., and served as assistant 

majority counsel for the Senate Watergate Committee. 

6. I am the co-author of PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 

(Foundation Press, Westbury, N.Y., 12th ed. 2014), the most widely used legal ethics 

course book in the United States.  It has been the most widely used since I coauthored the 

first edition in 1976.  In addition, I have authored or coauthored several other books on 

legal ethics, including ROTUNDA & DZIENKOWSKI, LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S 

DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA/Thompson, 2014). 

7. In addition to these books, I have written numerous articles on legal ethics, as well as 

several books and articles on Constitutional Law, as indicated in the attached resume.  

State and federal courts at every level have cited my treatises and articles over 1000 
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times.  From 1980 to 1987, I was a member of the Multistate Professional Examination 

Committee of the National Conference of Bar Examiners.   

8. In 2000, the University of Chicago Press published a lengthy study that sought to 

determine the influence, productivity, and reputations of law professors over the last 

several decades.  That study ranked me as the 17th highest in the nation.  See Interpreting 

Legal Citations, 29 JOURNAL OF LEGAL STUDIES (part 2) (U. Chicago Press, Jan. 2000).   

9. The 2002-2003 New Educational Quality Ranking of U.S. Law Schools (EQR) ranked 

me the 11th most cited of all law faculty in the United States.  See 

http://www.leiterrankings.com/faculty/2002faculty_impact_cites.shtml .  I was selected 

the Best Lawyer in Washington, DC, in 2009 in Ethics and Professional Responsibility 

Law, as published in the November 2008 in the Washington Post in association with the 

Legal Times.  I was also selected as one of the Best Lawyers in Southern California, in 

2010 in Ethics and Professional Responsibility Law, and yet again in 2011, 2012, 2013, 

2014, as published in the Los Angeles Times, in association with American Law Media.   

10. I am a member of the bars of New York, Illinois, Washington, D.C., the Second Circuit, 

Seventh Circuit, the D.C. Circuit, the Fourth Circuit, the Central District of Illinois, D.C. 

District Court, and the U.S. Supreme Court. 

11. Over the years, I have spoken at various ABA conferences on legal ethics and was a 

featured speaker on an ABA videotape series on legal ethics. I am a former — 

 Member of the Bar Admissions Committee of the Association of American Law 
Schools;  

 Chair of the Section on Professional Responsibility of the Association of 
American Law Schools;  

 Member of the ABA Standing Committee on Professional Discipline (1991-
1997);  
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 Chair of the ABA Subcommittee on Model Rules Review (1992-1997); member 
of the Consultant Group of the American Law Institute’s Restatement of the Law 
Governing Lawyers.   

 Member of the Advisory Council to Ethics 2000, the ABA Commission that 
proposed revisions to the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct (1998-
2000).   

 Liaison to the ABA Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional 
Responsibility (1994-1997).   

12. Since 1994, I have been a member of the Publications Board of the A.B.A. Center for 

Professional Responsibility.  I am a Life Fellow of the American Bar Foundation and the 

Illinois Bar Foundation, and a former consultant to the Administrative Conference of the 

United States on various issues relating to legal ethics.  

13. During May 1996, I was the Consultant to the Chamber of Advocates of the Czech 

Republic: under the auspices of the United States Agency for International Development, 

I spent the month of May 1996, in Prague, drafting Rules of Professional Responsibility 

for lawyers in the Czech Republic.  I also wrote the original draft of the first Czech Bar 

Examination on Professional Responsibility, and consulted with the Czech Supreme 

Court in connection with the Court’s proposed Rules of Judicial Ethics and the efforts of 

that Court to create an independent judiciary.   

14. During November-December, 2002, I was Visiting Scholar, Katholieke Universiteit 

Leuven, Faculty of Law in, Leuven, Belgium.   

15. In May 2004, and December 2005, I was visiting lecturer at the Institute of Law and 

Economics, Institut für Recht und Ökonomik, at the University of Hamburg.   

16. During July 2007, I was in Latvia where I conferred with various judges from the Baltic 

States on judicial ethics, under the auspices of the U.S. Embassy, the Supreme Court of 

Latvia, and the Latvian Ministry of Justice. A copy of my curriculum vitae is attached. 

III. DOCUMENTS 
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17. I have reviewed the followings documents in connection with this matter. It appears that 

the judge is getting most of his “information” from articles of the Phoenix New Times: 

a. http://blogs.phoenixnewtimes.com/valleyfever/2015/04/judge_murray_snow_joe_
arpaio_contempt_trial.php  

b. http://blogs.phoenixnewtimes.com/valleyfever/2015/04/arpaio_cops_to_investigat
ing federal judge judges wife confirming new times.php (“judge's spouse 
allegedly made at a restaurant, to the effect that Judge Snow wanted to ‘make 
sure’ Arpaio’s not re-elected”) 

c. http://blogs.phoenixnewtimes.com/valleyfever/2015/04/arpaios_chief_deputy_con
firms_wack_investigations_of_judges_wife_cia_doj_et.php (“I know Judge 
Snow's wife, she told me he hates you and wants to see you out of office.”) 

d. Order re evidentiary hearing of 4/27/2015; MEO re Day 4 evidentiary hearing 
e. Transcripts of Evidentiary Hearing of 4/21/2015; 4/22/2015;/ 4/23/2015; 

4/24/2015 

IV. SUMMARY OF THE FACTS 

18. On April 22, 2015, and on April 23, 2015, Judge Snow conducted a cross examination of 

Sheriff Arpaio.  Judge Snow quickly learned that Sheriff Arpaio was not investigating the 

judge (Evidentiary Hearing, 4/23/2015, p. 648, l. 14.)  Instead, the judge was interested in 

learning all he could about an email that Sheriff Arpaio received from “someone named 

Grissom,” who met the judge’s wife in a restaurant.”  (Evidentiary Hearing, 4/23/2015, p. 

654-55.).  Mr. Grisson heard the judge’s wife say that “Judge Snow wanted to do 

everything to make sure I'm [Sheriff Arpaio] not elected.”  (Evidentiary Hearing, 

4/23/2015, p.  655, ll. 19-20.)   

19. Sheriff Arpaio wanted to confirm that Mr. Grisson’s statement was actually true.  The 

judge then asked Sheriff Arpaio various leading questions (indicating that the judge was 

cross-examining the witness).  Q is Judge; A. is Sheriff 

Q. Okay. And so you turned that over to 

your counsel and counsel hired a private 

investigator, and what did the 

investigator do? 

A. He investigated it. 
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Q. And what was the result of the 

investigation? 

A. Results were that he confirmed that your 

wife was in that restaurant and con -- I 

guess talked to the witnesses, three or 

four, that confirm that remark was made. 

[Evidentiary Hearing, 4/23/2015, p.  655, ll. 
5-12(emphasis added)] 

20. The judge apparently engaged in his own investigation of facts outside the courtroom he 

thought relevant that were not in evidence. (Evidentiary Hearing, 4/23/2015, at p. 657, l. 

25 & p. 658, ll. 1-2.)  The judge said, “I was told [during the luncheon break] that you 

also have various sources of funding within the MSCO,” and Sheriff Arpaio responded 

that the judge’s information was false. [Emphasis added.]  The judge did not say who told 

him this false information, nor does he say if he questioned others as well. 

21. Later, the judge said, “Well, so he found information that the DOJ [Department of 

Justice] had sent a communication to my computer?”  Evidentiary Hearing of 4/24/2015, 

at p. 1000, ll. 19-20.  Note that this is a leading question, to which the witness (Sheridan) 

responds, “Something to that effect, yes.” 

22. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Sheridan said that he did not think the evidence of this email 

showed “collusion,” to which the judge promptly replied, “Well, I certainly agree with 

that . . . .”  Evidentiary Hearing of 4/24/2015, at p. 1002, l.3.  

23. The judge appears to be taking evidence outside of court (See ¶ 20), asking leading 

questions (e.g. ¶ 21), and giving his own testimony (¶ 22). 

24. The judge also becomes argumentative. He tells Mr. Sheridan that he did not have to hire 

Mr. Montgomery as a “confidential” consultant — “Well, but what was he doing that 

needed to be confidential for?”  The witness tries to answer, but the judge interrupted the 

witness, preventing him from finishing his sentence.  Then the judge argues that there 
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was no need for confidentiality because the consultant was not a mole infiltrating 

organized crime.  The witness responds that the investigation was confidential because it 

concerns the CIA breaching personal information at least 50,000 American citizens, 

including “citizens that lived here in Maricopa County.”  However, the judge became 

more argumentative, telling the witness, “I still don’t understand” why such a witness 

should be called “confidential,” even though the witness informed the judge that this 

informant qualified as “confidential” under the written rules of the operations manual. 

Evidentiary Hearing of 4/24/2015, at pp. 1005-0116. 

25. I am told that Judge Snow is now ordering that documents showing communications with 

or referring to Larry Klayman, the lawyer for Mr. Montgomery, be turned over to him, 

including documents covered at least by the Attorney Work Product Privilege. 

a. Mr. Klayman and Mr. Montgomery are not parties to this case; 
b. No party has issued subpoenas for any of these documents; 
c. I am advised that the documents are confidential and within the Attorney Client 

and/or Work Product Privileges. 

26. In the judge’s order of April 27, he states that he ordered the “MCSO defendants to 

immediately disclose certain materials discussed in the Court’s colloquy Sheriff Arpaio.”  

[Emphasis added.] The judge states, “Attorney review for privilege was conducted 

contemporaneously with this production . . . .”  I have been advised that this is not true. 

V. CONCLUSION 

27.  We know that several people report that the judge’s wife said that her husband, Judge 

Snow, “Judge Snow wanted to do everything to make sure [that Sheriff Arpaio is] not 

elected.”  It should be quite obvious that whatever the duties of a federal judge are, that 

job description does not include conducting a judicial proceeding in a way to insure that 
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Sheriff Arpaio is not elected and to pursue an investigation that is even broader than that 

for what appears to be personal reasons. 

28. Moreover, we also know that in the several days of hearing, the judge —  

a.  asked leading questions,  
b. gave his own version of the facts,  
c. conducted his own investigation outside the courtroom, 
d. argued with witnesses, and  
e. was extremely interested in what evidence existed concerning the statement he 

made to his wife that he would do all that he could to make sure that Sheriff 
Arpaio is not elected. 

29. Under these set of facts, the judge should be disqualified because of his personal bias or 

prejudice against a party, Sheriff Arpaio. See 28 U.S.C. §144.   This section has no 

provision for any waiver. 

30. The judge should also be disqualified pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §455(b)(1) (“personal bias or 

prejudice concerning a party” or “personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts 

concerning the proceeding.”  Section 455(e) allows for waiver of some disqualifications 

but does not allow any waiver for any disqualification under §455(b). 28 U.S.C 144 is 

also implicated here. 

31. I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct and that I signed 

this declaration on 6 May 2015, in Orange, California. 

______________________ 
RONALD D. ROTUNDA 
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Email: rrotunda@chapman.edu Home Page  http://www1.chapman.edu/~rrotunda  

Office Address: 
Chapman University  
Dale E. Fowler School of Law 
Room 406 
One University Drive 
Orange, CA  92866-1005 
: (714) 628-2698 
Fax: (714) 628-2576 

Experience: 

Since August, 2008  DOY & DEE HENLEY CHAIR AND DISTINGUISHED 
PROFESSOR OF JURISPRUDENCE, CHAPMAN 
UNIVERSITY 

June 17, 2009 – Jan. 31, 
2013 

COMMISSIONER, Fair Political Practices Commission 
a regulatory body of the State of California,  

2006- August 2008 UNIVERSITY PROFESSOR AND PROFESSOR OF LAW, 
George Mason University 

2002-2006  THE GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION 
PROFESSOR OF LAW, George Mason 
University School of Law 

Nov. to Dec. 2002 Visiting Scholar, Katholieke Universiteit 
Leuven, Faculty of Law, Leuven, Belgium 

May 2004  Visiting Lecturer, The Institute for Law and 
Economics, Institut für Recht und Ökonomik, 
The University of Hamburg, Germany 

June 2004-May 2005 Special Counsel to Department of Defense, 
The Pentagon 

December 2005 Visiting Lecturer, The Institute for Law and 
Economics, Institut für Recht und Ökonomik, 
The University of Hamburg, Germany 

1993 - 2002 THE ALBERT E. JENNER, JR. PROFESSOR OF LAW, 
University of Illinois College of Law 

Since 2002 THE ALBERT E. JENNER, JR. PROFESSOR OF LAW, 
EMERITUS, University of Illinois College of 
Law 

Fall, 2001 Visiting Professor, George Mason University 
School of Law 
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Spring & Fall 2000 Cato Institute, Washington, D.C.; Senior 
Fellow in Constitutional Studies [Senior 
Fellow in Constitutional Studies, 2001-2009] 

Spring, 1999 Visiting Professor, holding the JOHN S. STONE 
ENDOWED CHAIR OF LAW, University of 
Alabama School of Law 

August 1980 - 1992 Professor of Law, University of Illinois College of 
Law 

March 1986 Fulbright Professor, Maracaibo and Caracas, 
Venezuela, under the auspices of the Embassy 
of the United States and the Catholic 
University Andres Bello 

January – June, 1981 Fulbright Research Scholar, Italy 
Spring 1981 Visiting Professor of Law, European 

University Institute, Florence, Italy 
August 1977 – August, 1980 Associate Professor of Law, University of Illinois 

College of Law 
August 1974 – August 1977 Assistant Professor of Law, University of Illinois 

College of Law 
April 1973 - July 1974 Assistant Counsel, U.S. Senate Select Committee on 

Presidential Campaign Activities 
July 1971 - April, 1973 Associate, Wilmer, Cutler & Pickering Washington, 

DC 
August 1970 – July 1971 Law Clerk to Judge Walter R. Mansfield, Second 

Circuit, New York, N.Y. 

Education: 

Legal:    HARVARD LAW SCHOOL (1967- 1970) 
Harvard Law Review, volumes 82 & 83 
J.D., 1970 Magna Cum Laude 

College: HARVARD COLLEGE  (1963- 1967) 
A.B., 1967 Magna Cum Laude in Government 

Member: 

American Law Institute (since 1977); Life Fellow of the American Bar Foundation (since 1989); Life 
Fellow of the Illinois Bar Foundation (since 1991); The Board of Editors, The Corporation Law 
Review (1978-1985); New York Bar (since 1971); Washington, D.C. Bar and D.C. District Court Bar 
(since 1971); Illinois Bar (since 1975); 2nd Circuit Bar (since 1971); Central District of Illinois (since 
1990); 7th Circuit (since 1990); U.S. Supreme Court Bar (since 1974); 4th Circuit, since 2009.  
Member: American Bar Association, Washington, D.C. Bar Association, Illinois State Bar 
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Association, Seventh Circuit Bar Association; The Multistate Professional Responsibility 
Examination Committee of the National Conference of Bar Examiners (1980-1987); AALS, Section 
on Professional Responsibility, Chairman Elect (1984-85), Chairman (1985-86); Who’s Who In 
America (since 44th Ed.) and various other Who’s Who; American Lawyer Media, L.P., National 
Board of Contributors (1990-2000).  Best teacher selected by George Mason U. Law School 
Graduating Class of 2003. 
 
Scholarly Influence and Honors: 
 
Symposium, Interpreting Legal Citations, 29 JOURNAL OF LEGAL STUDIES (part 2) (U. Chicago 
Press, Jan. 2000), sought to determine the influence, productivity, and reputation of law 
professors.  Under various measures, Professor Rotunda scored among the highest in the nation.  
E.g., scholarly impact, most-cited law faculty in the United States, 17th (p. 470); reputation of 
judges, legal scholars, etc. on Internet, 34th (p. 331); scholar’s non-scholarly reputation, 27th (p. 
334); most influential legal treatises since 1978, 7th (p. 405).  
 
In May 2000, American Law Media, publisher of The American Lawyer, the National Law 
Journal, and the Legal Times, picked Professor Rotunda as one of the ten most influential Illinois 
Lawyers.  He was the only academic on the list.  He was rated, in 2014, as one of “The 30 Most 
Influential Constitutional Law Professors” in the United States.  
 

• 2012, Honored with, THE CHAPMAN UNIVERSITY EXCELLENCE IN 
SCHOLARLY/CREATIVE WORK AWARD, 2011-2012. 

• Appointed UNIVERSITY PROFESSOR, 2006, George Mason University; Appointed 
2008, DOY & DEE HENLEY CHAIR AND DISTINGUISHED PROFESSOR OF 
JURISPRUDENCE, Chapman University. 

• The 2002-2003 New Educational Quality Ranking of U.S. Law Schools (EQR) 
ranks Professor Rotunda as the eleventh most cited of all law faculty in the United 
States. See http://www.leiterrankings.com/faculty/2002faculty_impact_cites.shtml  

• Selected UNIVERSITY SCHOLAR for 1996-1999, University of Illinois. 
• 1989, Ross and Helen Workman Research Award. 
• 1984, David C. Baum Memorial Research Award. 
• 1984, National Institute for Dispute Resolution Award. 
• Fall, 1980, appointed Associate, in the Center for Advanced Study, University of 

Illinois. 
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LIST OF PUBLICATIONS: 
BOOKS:  
 
PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, 

N.Y., 1976) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

CALIFORNIA SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 1976) (with Thomas D. 
Morgan).  

1978 SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 1978) (with Thomas D. 
Morgan). 

1979 PROBLEMS, CASES AND READINGS SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND 
MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 
1979) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1979 CALIFORNIA RULES SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON 
PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 1979) (with 
Thomas D. Morgan). 

1979 STANDARDS SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 1979) (with Thomas D. 
Morgan). 

1980 CALIFORNIA RULES SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON 
PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 1980) (with 
Thomas D. Morgan). 

1980 STANDARDS SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 1980) (with Thomas D. 
Morgan). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 1978) (a one volume 
treatise on Constitutional Law) (with John E. Nowak and J. Nelson Young). 

1978 SUPPLEMENT TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1978) (with John E. Nowak and J. Nelson Young). 

1979-1980 SUPPLEMENT TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1979) (with John E. Nowak and J. Nelson Young). 

1982 SUPPLEMENT TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1982) (with John E. Nowak and J. Nelson Young). 
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MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  CASES & NOTES (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1981). 

1981 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1981). 

1982 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1982). 

1983 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1983). 

1984 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, MINNESOTA, 1984). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, 
N.Y., 2d ed. 1981) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1981 STANDARDS SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 1981) (with Thomas D. 
Morgan). 

1983 STANDARDS SUPPLEMENT TO PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, N.Y., 1983) (with Thomas D. 
Morgan). 

THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL SYSTEM:  LEGAL INTEGRATION IN THE AMERICAN 
EXPERIENCE (Giuffrè, Milan, 1982) (with Peter Hay). 

SIX JUSTICES ON CIVIL RIGHTS (Oceana Publications, Inc., Dobbs Ferry, N.Y., 1983) (edited 
and with introduction). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 2d ed. 1983) (with John E. 
Nowak and J. Nelson Young) (a one volume treatise on Constitutional Law). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (West Publishing Co., 1984, Black Letter Series). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, 
N.Y., 3d ed. 1984) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1984 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Mineola, N.Y. 1984) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1985 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Mineola, N.Y. 1985) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 
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1986 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Mineola, N.Y. 1986) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1987 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Mineola, N.Y. 1987) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  CASES & NOTES (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2d ed. 1985). 

1985 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1985). 

1986 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, MINNESOTA, 1986). 

1987 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1987). 

1988 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1988). 

THE POLITICS OF LANGUAGE:  LIBERALISM AS WORD AND SYMBOL (University of Iowa 
Press, 1986) (with an Introduction by Daniel Schorr). 

TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND PROCEDURE (West Publishing Co., 
St. Paul, Minnesota, 1986) (three volume treatise) (with John E. Nowak and J. Nelson 
Young). 

1987 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., 
1987) (with John E. Nowak). 

1988 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAw (West Publishing Co., 
1988) (with John E. Nowak). 

1989 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., 
1989) (with John E. Nowak). 

1990 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., 
1990) (with John E. Nowak). 

1991 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., 
1991) (with John E. Nowak). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 3d ed. 1986) (a one volume 
treatise on Constitutional Law) (with John E. Nowak and J. Nelson Young). 
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1988 POCKET PART TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., 1988) (with 
John E. Nowak). 

JOSEPH STORY’S COMMENTARIES ON THE CONSTITUTION (Carolina Academic Press, 
Durham, N.C. 1987) (with introduction) (with John E. Nowak). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  PRINCIPLES AND CASES (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 
1987). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, Mineola, 
N.Y., 4th ed. 1987) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1988 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Mineola, N.Y. 1988) (with Thomas D. Morgan).  

1989 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1989) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1990 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1990) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 2d ed. 1988, 
Black Letter Series). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 3d ed. 1989). 

1989 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1989). 

1990 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1990). 

1991 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1991). 

1992 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1992). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
Westbury, N.Y., 5th ed. 1991) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1991 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1991) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 
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1992 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1992) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1993 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1993) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1994 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1994) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1995 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1995) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 4th ed. 1991) (a one volume 
treatise on Constitutional Law) (with John E. Nowak). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 3d ed. 1992, 
Black Letter Series). 

TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND PROCEDURE (West Publishing Co., 
St. Paul, Minnesota, 2d ed. 1992) (four volume treatise) (with John E. Nowak). 

1993 POCKET PART TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1993) (with John E. Nowak). 

1994 POCKET PART TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1994) (with John E. Nowak). 

1995 POCKET PART TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1995) (with John E. Nowak). 

1996 POCKET PART TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1996) (with John E. Nowak). 

1997 POCKET PART TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1997) (with John E. Nowak). 

1998 POCKET PART TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 1998) (with John E. Nowak). 

1999 POCKET PART TO CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 
1999) (with John E. Nowak). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 4th ed. 1993). 
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1993 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1993). 

1994 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., 
St. Paul, Minnesota, 1994). 

1995 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1995). 

1996 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1996). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 5th ed. 1995) (a one volume 
treatise on Constitutional Law) (with John E. Nowak). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
Westbury, N.Y., 6th ed. 1995) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1996 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1996) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1997 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1997) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1998 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, Westbury, N.Y. 1998) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

1999 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 1999) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2000 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2000) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 4th ed. 1995, 
Black Letter Series) (with computer disk). 

Treatise on Constitutional Law:  Substance and Procedure — EXPANDED CD ROM EDITION 
(West Publishing Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 1995) (with John E. Nowak). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (West Publishing Co., St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 5th ed. 1997). 

1997 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1997). 
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1998 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1998). 

1999 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Publishing Co., St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 1999). 

TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND PROCEDURE (West Group, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 3d ed. 1999) (five volume treatise) (with John E. Nowak). 

2000 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2000) (with John E. Nowak). 

2001 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2001) (with John E. Nowak). 

2002 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2002) (with John E. Nowak). 

2003 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2003) (with John E. Nowak). 

2004 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2004) (with John E. Nowak). 

2005 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2005) (with John E. Nowak). 

2006 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2006) (with John E. Nowak). 

헌법: 개인의 자유와 절차를 [AMERICAN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: INDIVIDUAL LIBERTIES 

AND PROCEDURE; published in Korean] (Korean Constitutional Court, 1999) (with 
John E. Nowak). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
Westbury, NY, 7th ed. 2000) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2001 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2001) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2002 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2002) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2003 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2003) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 
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LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-West 
Group, St. Paul, Minn. 2000) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA 
and West Group, a division of Thomson Publishing). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 6th 
ed. 2000). 

2000 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Group, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 6th ed. 2000). 

2001 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Group, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 6th ed. 2001). 

2002 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Group, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 6th ed. 2002). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 6th ed. 2000) (a one volume treatise 
on Constitutional Law) (with John E. Nowak). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 5th ed. 2001, Black Letter 
Series). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-West Group, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2001). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-West 
Group, St. Paul, Minn., 2nd ed. 2002) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the 
ABA and West Group, a division of Thomson Publishing). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-West Group, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2nd ed. 2002). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 6th ed. 2002, Black Letter 
Series). 

LEGAL ETHICS IN A NUTSHELL (West Group, St. Paul, Minnesota, 1st ed. 2003, Nutshell 
Series) (with Michael I. Krauss). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 
7th ed. 2003). 

2003 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2003). 

2004 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2004). 
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2005 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2005). 

2006 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2006). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, New 
York, N.Y., 8th ed. 2003) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2004 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2004) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2005 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2005) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 7th ed. 2004) (a one volume 
treatise on Constitutional Law) (with John E. Nowak). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 7th ed. 2004, Black 
Letter Series). 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 1st ed. 2004) 
(with John E. Nowak). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA- 
Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 3rd ed. 2005) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 
3rd ed. 2005) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2nd ed. 2005) 
(with John E. Nowak). 

LEGAL ETHICS IN A NUTSHELL (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2nd ed. 2006, Nutshell 
Series) (with Michael I. Krauss). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, New 
York, N.Y., 9th ed. 2006) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2006 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2006) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2007 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2007) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 
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2008 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation 
Press, New York, N.Y. 2008) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 4th ed. 2006) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 
4th ed. 2006) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 
8th ed. 2007). 

2007 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2007). 

2008 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2008). 

TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 4th ed. 2007) (first two volumes of six volume treatise) (with John E. 
Nowak). 

2007 Pocket PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2007) (with John E. Nowak). 

LEGAL ETHICS IN A NUTSHELL (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 3rd ed. 2007, Nutshell 
Series). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 5th ed. 2007) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 
5th ed. 2007) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

언론의 자유와 미국 헌법, FREEDOM OF SPEECH AND THE AMERICAN CONSTITUTION 
(Korean Studies Information Co. Ltd.  Publishers, Korea, 2007) (translated into Korean 
by Professor Lee Boo-Ha, Yeungnam University College of Law and Political Science), 
coauthored with Professor John E. Nowak. 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 3rd ed. 2007) 
(with John E. Nowak). 
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TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 4th ed. 2008) (last four volumes of six volume treatise) (with John E. 
Nowak). 

2008 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2008) (with John E. Nowak). 

2009 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2009) (with John E. Nowak). 

2010 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2010) (with John E. Nowak). 

2011 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2011) (with John E. Nowak). 

2012 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2012) (with John E. Nowak). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, New 
York, N.Y., 10th ed. 2008) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2009 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
New York, N.Y. 2009) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2010 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
New York, N.Y. 2010) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2011 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
New York, N.Y. 2011) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 8th ed. 2008, Black 
Letter Series). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 6th ed. 2008) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 
6th ed. 2008) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (West Thomson Reuters, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 9th ed. 2009). 

2009 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
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Minnesota, 2009). 

2010 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2010). 

2011 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2011). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 7th ed. 2009) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 
7th ed. 2009) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 7th ed. 2010) (a one volume 
treatise on Constitutional Law) (with John E. Nowak). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 8th ed. 2010) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 
8th ed. 2010) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West-Thomson/Reuters, St. Paul, Minnesota, 4th ed. 
2010) (with John E. Nowak). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, New 
York, N.Y., 11th ed. 2011) (with Thomas D. Morgan & John S. Dzienkowski). 

2012 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
New York, N.Y. 2012) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2013 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
New York, N.Y. 2013) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

2014 SELECTED STANDARDS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, 
West Academic, St. Paul, MN 2014) (with Thomas D. Morgan). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 9th ed. 2011) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 
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PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 
9th ed. 2011) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (West: A Thomson-Reuters Co., St. Paul, Minnesota, 9th ed. 
2011, Black Letter Series). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: CONCISE EDITION 
(Foundation Press, New York, N.Y., 11th ed. 2012) (with Thomas D. Morgan & John S. 
Dzienkowski). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (West Thomson Reuters, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 10th ed. 2012). 

2012 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2012). 

2013 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (Thomson/West, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 2013). 

2014 SUPPLEMENT TO MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW (West Academic Publishing, St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 2014). 

概論 アメリカの法曹倫理 第3版――事例解説 [INTRODUCTION TO AMERICAN LEGAL 
ETHICS] (translated by Naoyuki Toyama) (Thomson Reuters, Japan UNI Agency, Inc. 
Tokyo, 2012). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 10th ed. 2012) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA-Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minn., 
10th ed. 2012) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 5th ed. 2012) (first three volumes of six volume treatise) (with John E. 
Nowak). 

LEGAL ETHICS IN A NUTSHELL (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 4th ed. 2013, Nutshell 
Series). 

TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. 
Paul, Minnesota, 5th ed. 2013) (last three volumes of six volume treatise) (with John E. 
Nowak). 
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2013 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (Thomson/West, St. Paul, Minnesota, 2013) (with John E. Nowak). 

2014 POCKET PART TO TREATISE ON CONSTITUTIONAL LAW:  SUBSTANCE AND 
PROCEDURE (Thomson Reuters, Eagan, Minnesota, 2014) (with John E. Nowak). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson Reuters, St. Paul, Minn., 11th ed. 2013) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: A STUDENT’S GUIDE (ABA- Thomson Reuters, St. Paul, 
Minn., 11th ed. 2013) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly published by the ABA and 
Thomson/West) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (Foundation Press, St. Paul, 
MN. 12th ed. 2014) (with Thomas D. Morgan & John S. Dzienkowski). 

PROBLEMS AND MATERIALS ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY: CONCISE EDITION 
(Foundation Press, St. Paul, MN. 12th ed. 2014) (with Thomas D. Morgan & John S. 
Dzienkowski). 

LEGAL ETHICS: THE LAWYER’S DESKBOOK ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY (ABA-
Thomson Reuters, Eagan, Minn., 12th ed. 2014) (a Treatise on legal ethics, jointly 
published by the ABA and Thomson Reuters) (with John S. Dzienkowski). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (West Thomson Reuters, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 11th ed. 2015)(unabridged edition). 

MODERN CONSTITUTIONAL LAW: CASES AND NOTES (West Thomson Reuters, St. Paul, 
Minnesota, 11th ed. 2015)(abridged edition). 
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ARTICLES: 

The “Liberal” Label:  Roosevelt’s Capture of a Symbol, 17 PUBLIC POLICY 377 (Harvard 
University Press, 1968). 

Reform of the Presidential Nominating Conventions, 56 VIRGINIA LAW REVIEW 179 (1970) (with 
Reid Chambers). 

The Public Interest Appellant:  Limitations on the Right of Competent Parties to Settle Litigation 
Out of Court, 66 NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY LAW REVIEW 199 (1971). 

The Combination of Functions in Administrative Actions:  An Examination of European 
Alternatives, 40 FORDHAM LAW REVIEW 101 (1971). 

Star Gallery ‘74, 2 ASTRONOMY MAGAZINE 57 (Feb. 1974) (Photographs of Mercury Transit of 
the Sun). 

Presidents and Ex-Presidents as Witnesses:  A Brief Historical Footnote, 1975 UNIVERSITY OF 
ILLINOIS LAW FORUM 1 (1975). 

Constitutional and Statutory Restrictions on Political Parties in the Wake of Cousins v. Wigoda, 
53 TEXAS LAW REVIEW 935 (1975). 

Sponsors of Real Estate Partnerships as Brokers and Investment Advisors, 23 UNIVERSITY OF 
CALIFORNIA-LOS ANGELES LAW REVIEW 322 (1975) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

Book Review of Freedman’s “Lawyers’ Ethics in An Adversary System,” 89 HARVARD LAW 
REVIEW 622 (1976). 

Congressional Power to Restrict the Jurisdiction of the Lower Federal Courts and the Problem 
of School Busing, 64 GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY LAW JOURNAL 839 (1976). 

Comment, 27 HARVARD LAW BULLETIN 4 (No. 3, 1976). 

Conforming Stock Ownership Plans with the Securities Acts, 45 GEORGE WASHINGTON 
UNIVERSITY LAW REVIEW 34 (1976) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

The Commercial Speech Doctrine in the Supreme Court, 1976 UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS LAW 
FORUM 1080 (1976). 

Commercial Speech and the First Amendment, 1 THE COLLEGIATE FORUM 8 (Fall 1977) 
(published by Dow Jones & Co., Inc.). 

The First Amendment Now Protects Commercial Speech, 10 THE CENTER MAGAZINE:  A 
PUBLICATION OF THE CENTER FOR THE STUDY OF DEMOCRATIC INSTITUTIONS 32 
(May/June 1977). 
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The Word “Profession” is Only a Label — And Not a Very Useful One, 4 LEARNING AND THE 
LAW 16 (Summer 1977) (publication of the American Bar Association Section of Legal 
Education and Admissions to the Bar). 

The SEC’s Ectoplasmic Theory of an Issuer as Applied to Educational and Charitable 
Institutions, Bank Trustees, and Other Exempt Issuers, 65 CALIFORNIA LAW REVIEW 
1181 (1977) (with Robert C. Hacker) (published by University of California-Berkeley 
Law School). 

Law, Lawyers and Managers, in, THE ETHICS OF CORPORATE CONDUCT, pp. 127-45 (Clarence 
Walton, ed. 1977) (published by Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., for the 
American Assembly of Columbia University). 

When the Client Lies:  Unhelpful Guidelines from the ABA, 1 CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 34 
(1978). 

SEC Registration of Private Investment Partnerships after Abrahamson v. Fleschner, 78 
COLUMBIA LAW REVIEW 1471 (1978) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

The Reliance of Counsel Defense in Securities Cases:  Damage Actions versus Injunctive 
Actions, 1 CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 159 (1978) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

Liability for the Misuse of Nonpublic, Material Inside Information:  The Duty to Convey and the 
Duty to Inquire, 1 CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 376 (1978) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

Running Out of Time:  Can the E.R.A. Be Saved, 64 AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION JOURNAL 
1507 (1978). 

The Duty to Take Remedial Action, 2 CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 159 (1979) (with Robert C. 
Hacker). 

Waiver of Attorney Client Privilege, 2 CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 250 (1979) (with Robert C. 
Hacker). 

Attorney Conflicts of Interest, 2 CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 345 (1979) (with Robert C. 
Hacker). 

Standing, Waiver, Laches, and Appealability in Attorney Disqualification Cases, 3 
CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 82 (1980) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

Short-Swing Profits, Section 16(b), and Nonstatutory Insiders, 3 CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 
252 (1980) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

Restrictions on Agency and Congressional Subpoenas Issued for an Improper Purpose, 4 
CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 74 (1981) (with Robert C. Hacker). 
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The Extraterritorial Regulation of Foreign Business under the U.S. Securities Laws, 59 NORTH 
CAROLINA LAW REVIEW 643 (1981) (with Robert C. Hacker), reprinted in 24 CORPORATE 
PRACTICE COMMENTATOR 233 (1982). 

Ethical Restraints on Communications with Adverse Expert Witnesses, 5 CORPORATION LAW 
REVIEW 348 (1982) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

A Comment on the Creation and Resolution of a “Nonproblem”:  Dames & Moore v. Regan, the 
Foreign Affairs Power, and the Role of the Court, 29 UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA - LOS 
ANGELES LAW REVIEW 1129 (1982) (with John E. Nowak). 

Corporate Confidences and the Duty to Refrain from Insider Trading, 6 CORPORATION LAW 
REVIEW 53 (1983) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

Representing the Corporate Client and the Proposed Rules of Professional Conduct, 6 
CORPORATION LAW REVIEW 269 (1983) (with Robert C. Hacker). 

Ethics, USA Today, Feb. 15, 1983, at p. 10A. 

Teaching Ethics under the New Model Rules, 14 SYLLABUS 1 (No. 3, Sept. 1983) (a publication 
of the American Bar Association Section on Legal Education and Admissions to the Bar). 

Usery in the Wake of Federal Energy Regulatory Commission v. Mississippi, 1 CONSTITUTIONAL 
COMMENTARY 43 (1984). 

The Doctrine of Conditional Preemption and Other Limitations on Tenth Amendment 
Restrictions, 132 UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA LAW REVIEW 289 (1984). 

Ethics, 12 STUDENT LAWYER 14 (May 1984). 

Debate Over Model Rules Moves to the States, 130 CHICAGO LAW BULLETIN 3, 8 (June 12, 
1984). 

The Notice of Withdrawal and the New Model Rules of Professional Conduct:  Blowing the 
Whistle and Waiving the Red Flag, 63 OREGON LAW REVIEW 455 (1984), reprinted in, 
1985 CRIMINAL LAW REVIEW 533, and excerpted in 34 LAW REVIEW DIGEST 14 
(Mar./Apr. 1985). 

Instruments for Legal Integration in the European Community — A Review (with Peter Hay and 
Giorgio Gaja), in 1 INTEGRATION THROUGH LAW: EUROPE AND THE AMERICAN FEDERAL 
EXPERIENCE 113 (Mauro Cappelletti, Monica Seccombe & Joseph Weiler, Eds.) (Walter 
de Gruyter, Berlin, 1986). 

Conflict of Laws as a Technique for Legal Integration (with Peter Hay and Ole Lando) in 1 
INTEGRATION THROUGH LAW:  EUROPE AND THE AMERICAN FEDERAL EXPERIENCE 161 
(M. Cappelletti, M. Seccombe, & J. Weiler, eds.) (Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 1986). 
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The Doctrine of the Inner Political Check, the Dormant Commerce Clause, and Federal 
Preemption, 53 TRANSPORTATION PRACTITIONERS JOURNAL 263 (1986). 

The Role of Law Reviews:  The Extreme Centrist Position, 62 INDIANA LAW JOURNAL 1 (1986). 

Intergovernmental Tax Immunity and Tax Free Municipals After Garcia, 57 U. COLORADO LAW 
REVIEW 849 (1986). 

Sales and Use Tax Credits, Discrimination against Interstate Commerce, and the Useless 
Multiple Taxation Concept, 20 UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA-DAVIS LAW REVIEW 273 
(1987) (with John E. Nowak). 

Ethical Problems in Federal Agency Hiring of Private Attorneys, 1 GEORGETOWN JOURNAL OF 
LEGAL ETHICS 85 (1987). 

Bicentennial Lessons from the Constitutional Convention of 1787, 21 SUFFOLK UNIVERSITY LAW 
REVIEW 589 (1987) (the Twentieth Donahue Lecture). 

Remembering Judge Walter R. Mansfield, 45 BROOKLYN LAW REVIEW 1 (1987). 

Professionals, Pragmatists or Predators, Part I, 75 ILLINOIS BAR JOURNAL 420, Part II, 482, Part 
III, 540 (1987). 

Life under the Articles of Confederation, 75 ILLINOIS BAR JOURNAL 544 (1987). 

Lawyers and Professionalism:  A Commentary on the Report of the American Bar Association 
Commission on Professionalism, 18 LOYOLA UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO LAW JOURNAL 
1149 (1987) (the Baker-McKenzie Foundation Lecture). 

The Constitutional Future of the Bill of Rights:  A Closer Look at Commercial Speech and State 
Aid to Religiously Affiliated Schools, 65 NORTH CAROLINA LAW REVIEW 917 (1987). 

Bork’s Firing of Cox:  What Really Happened, WALL STREET JOURNAL, Sept. 9, 1987, p. 32. 

An Essay on the Constitutional Parameters of Federal Impeachment, 76 KENTUCKY LAW 
REVIEW 707 (1988). 

Contract Rights, Property Rights and Constitutional Restrictions on Federal Limitations of 
Private Claims Against Foreign Governments, in,  LEGAL ESSAYS IN HONOR OF JOHN E. 
CRIBBET, pp 151-68 (Peter Hay & Michael Hoeflich, eds., U. of Ill. Press, 1988). 

Learning the Law of Lawyering, 136 UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA LAW REVIEW 1761 (1988). 
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CLUB OF WASHINGTON, D.C. 65 (2004). 

Iraq on the Way to Its New Constitution, 8 THE GREEN BAG, 2D SERIES 163 (Autumn 2004).  

Symposium, IRAQ AND ITS NEW CONSTITUTION 23, 53, 76 (Bilkent University & Foreign Policy 
Institute, Ankara, 2004). 

Veto Power, in THE OXFORD COMPANION TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 1047 
(Oxford U. Press, 2nd ed. 2005). 

A Shaky Ethics Charge, WASHINGTON POST, September 6, 2005, at p. A25. 

The Privileges and Immunities Clause, in THE HERITAGE GUIDE TO THE CONSTITUTION, p. 269 
(Regnery Publishing, Inc. Washington, DC 2005) (member of Editorial Advisory Board). 

Opinion Letter on Judicial Ethics, 6 ENGAGE: THE JOURNAL OF THE FEDERALIST SOCIETY’S 
PRACTICE GROUPS 122 (Issue 2, October 2005). 

Alleged Conflicts of Interest Because of the “Appearance of Impropriety,” 33 HOFSTRA L. REV. 
1141 (2005). 

Frische Datteln für die Häftlinge, SUEDDEUTSCHE ZEITUNG (Germany), January 2, 2006, at p. 2. 

Guantanamo, Another Story, The Republican Lawyer (January 15, 2006), 
http://www.rnla.org/Newsletter/ViewArticle.asp?ArticleID=179 

Click for Collected Wisdom, THE LEGAL TIMES, May 8, 2006, at 46. 

The Propriety of a Judge’s Failure to Recuse When Being Considered for Another Position, 19 
GEORGETOWN JOURNAL OF LEGAL ETHICS 1187 (2006). 

There’s No Future in the Past of Campaign Finance: The Latest Decision Displays A Badly 
Fractured Court, NATIONAL REVIEW ONLINE, June 28, 2006, 
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http://article.nationalreview.com/?q=NDE1MjZhZWNiMWIyNDhlMzI5MzE4YjFkYm
QxNzc4ZGY . 

CMS Information Policy Under Medicare “Part D” Creates 1st Amendment Problems, 21 
LEGAL BACKGROUNDER (Washington Legal Foundation, No. 21, July 7, 2006). 

Judicial Ethics, the Appearance of Impropriety, and the Proposed New ABA Judicial Code (The 
Howard Lichtenstein Lecture in Legal Ethics), 34 HOFSTRA LAW REVIEW 1337 (2006). 

The Courts Need This Watchdog, WASHINGTON POST, Dec. 21, 2006, at A29. 

The Detainee Cases of 2004 and 2006 and their Aftermath, 57 SYRACUSE LAW REVIEW 1 (2006). 

The Case for a Libby Pardon, WALL STREET JOURNAL, March 7, 2007, at A17. 

Income Mobility and Income Tax Revenue Since the Tax Cuts, THE REPUBLICAN LAWYER (April 
2007), http://www.rnla.org/Newsletter/ViewArticle.asp?ArticleID=232 . 

Remembering Father Robert F. Drinan, S.J., 20 GEORGETOWN JOURNAL OF LEGAL ETHICS 203 
(2007). 

Holding Enemy Combatants in the Wake of Hamdan, 8 ENGAGE: THE JOURNAL OF THE 
FEDERALIST SOCIETY’S PRACTICE GROUPS 52 (Issue 3, June 2007). 

Teaching Professional Responsibility and Ethics, 51 ST. LOUIS UNIVERSITY LAW JOURNAL 1223 
(2007). 

Rudy Thinks FAST, THE AMERICAN SPECTATOR, January 25, 2008, 
http://www.spectator.org/dsp article.asp?art id=12633  

Age Has Not Withered Him, THE LEGAL TIMES, July 7, 2008, at 46. 

Teaching Professional Responsibility and Ethics, in P. L. Jayanthi Reddy, ed., BENCH AND BAR 
ETHICS 3 (Amicus Books, Icfai University Press, Hyderabad, India 2007-2008). 

Foreword, in Paul Benjamin Linton, ABORTION UNDER STATE CONSTITUTIONS: A STATE-BY-
STATE ANALYSIS xix –xxi (Carolina Academic Press, Durham, N.C., 2008). 

Impact, in Sandarshi Gunawardena & Karen Rosenblum, DIVERSITY AT MASON 14 (George 
Mason U. 2008). 

Simplify, Simply: A Mantra for Transcendentalists and Tax Reformers Alike, LOS ANGELES 
DAILY JOURNAL, Oct. 1, 2008, at p. 6. 

Dormant Commerce Clause, 2 ENCYCLOPEDIA OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 
(Ed., David S. Tanenhaus) (Detroit: Macmillan Reference USA, 2009), at pp. 52-54. 
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A Modern Day Bleak House: The Legal Inheritance of Anna Nicole Smith, THE AMERICAN 
SPECTATOR, March 2009, at 32-36. 

Some Strings Attached: Is the Stimulus Law Constitutional?, CHICAGO TRIBUNE, March 15, 
2009, at 29. 

The Right of Free Speech, Regardless Of What Is Spoken, THE PANTHER (Chapman University 
Newspaper), at p. 13 (March 23, 2009). 

Was Madoff Good for the Economy?, CHICAGO TRIBUNE, April 3, 2009, at 49. 

 The Orange Grove: U.S. Imports of Lawsuits Rising, ORANGE COUNTY REGISTER, June 30, 
2009. 

Kenneth W. Starr: A Biography, THE YALE BIOGRAPHICAL DICTIONARY OF AMERICAN LAW 510 
(Roger K. Newman, ed., Yale U. Press, 2009). 

An Unconstitutional Nobel, THE WASHINGTON POST, Oct. 16, 2009, at A23 (with J. Peter Pham). 

Judicial Transparency, Judicial Ethics, and a Judicial Solution: An Inspector General for the 
Courts, 41 LOYOLA U. CHICAGO L.J. 301 (2010).  

Judicial Disqualification in the Aftermath of Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., 60 SYRACUSE 
LAW REVIEW 247 (2010). 

Campaign Disclosure Can Go too Far, SACRAMENTO BEE, February 6, 2010, at p. 11A. 

The Efforts to Disbar Bush Lawyers, in NATIONAL REVIEW ON LINE, March 4, 2010, 
http://bench.nationalreview.com/post/?q=ZjhiMTk2MGY0ZjFiOTczZjg4ODhhODI5MD
QwMzczYWU=  

Repealing the First Amendment, WASHINGTON EXAMINER, April 14, 2010,  
http://www.washingtonexaminer.com/opinion/columns/OpEd-Contributor/Repealing-the-
First-Amendment-90851704.html#ixzz0l6TO2qIK  

What Can Congress Make You Do?, ORANGE COUNTY REGISTER, May 23, 2010, at p. C2, 
http://www.ocregister.com/articles/congress-75386-ocprint-buy-insurance.html  

Birthright Citizenship Benefits the Country, CHICAGO TRIBUNE, Sept. 16, 2010, at p. 21, 
http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/opinion/ct-oped-0916-birthright-
20100916,0,4594378.story  

What Are D.C. Police Doing Enforcing Shariah Law?, PAJAMAS MEDIA, Sept. 16, 2010, 
http://pajamasmedia.com/blog/what-are-d-c-police-doing-enforcing-sharia-
law/?singlepage=true  
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A New Look at the Federal Suit against Arizona’s Immigration Law, PAJAMAS MEDIA, Oct. 5, 
2010, http://pajamasmedia.com/blog/a-new-look-at-the-federal-suit-against-arizonas-
immigration-law/?singlepage=true  

The Point of No Return, WASHINGTON TIMES, Oct. 10, 2010, at p. B3. 

Can Congress Ban People from Threatening to Burn The Quran?, ATLANTA JOURNAL-
CONSTITUTION, Oct. 14, 2010, at p. 21A. 

Congressional Silence Hurts Immigrants, THE PANTHER (Chapman University Newspaper), at p. 
11 (October 25, 2010). 

Justice O'Connor’s Robo Call Apology, AOL NEWS, Oct. 28, 2010, 
http://www.aolnews.com/discuss/opinion-justice-oconnors-robo-call-apology-isnt-
enough/19693741#gcpDiscussPageUrlAnchor . 

What's Wrong with Oklahoma's Shariah Amendment?, AOL NEWS, Nov. 30, 2010, 
http://www.aolnews.com/opinion/article/opinion-whats-wrong-with-oklahomas-shariah-
amendment/19737155  

Judicial Disqualification When a Solicitor General Moves to the Bench, 11 ENGAGE: THE 
JOURNAL OF THE FEDERALIST SOCIETY’S PRACTICE GROUPS 94 (Issue 3, Nov. 2010), 
http://www.fed-soc.org/publications/pubid.2067/pub_detail.asp  

Eat Your Spinach, Says Nanny State, 33 NATIONAL LAW JOURNAL 39 (#19, Jan. 10, 2011), 
http://www.law.com/jsp/nlj/PubArticleNLJ.jsp?id=1202477337422&Each your spinach
_says_nanny_state  

Trying to Codify Caperton, 42 MCGEORGE LAW REVIEW 95 (2010)(Judicial Ethics Symposium). 

Equal Employment Opportunities for Female Prison Guards, NATIONAL LAW JOURNAL, Feb. 7, 
2011, 
http://www.law.com/jsp/nlj/PubArticleNLJ.jsp?id=1202480379005&rss=nlj&slreturn=1
&hbxlogin=1 

Stern v. Marshall, and the Power of Bankruptcy Courts to Issue Final Orders on All Compulsory 
Counterclaims, 23 BNA BANKRUPTCY LAW REPORTER 230 (Feb. 24, 2011) 

Resolving Client Conflicts by Hiring “Conflicts Counsel,” 62 HASTINGS LAW JOURNAL 677 
(2011). 

We Do Declare: Libya and the United States Constitution, NATIONAL REVIEW ONLINE, March 
24, 2011, http://www.nationalreview.com/articles/262940/we-do-declare-kathryn-jean-
lopez?page=7 . 
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Constitutionalizing Judicial Ethics: Judicial Elections after Republican Party v. White, 
Caperton, and Citizens United, 64 U. ARKANSAS LAW REV. 1 (2011)(Hartman-Hotz 
Distinguished Lecture). 

Transparenţa Judiciară, Etica Judiciară şi o Soluţie Judiciară, REVISTA FORUMUL 
JUDECĂTORILOR 16 (No. 2, 2011). 

The Intellectual Forebears of Citizens United, 16 NEXUS 113 ((2010-2011). 

Are Capitalists Happier?, REUTERS, Aug. 12, 2011, http://blogs.reuters.com/great-
debate/2011/08/12/are-capitalists-happier/ (co-authored with Vernon Smith, 2002 Nobel 
Laureate in Economics, & Bart Wilson), reprinted in, e.g., THE DAILY STAR (Dhaka, 
Bangladesh), Aug. 15, 2011; ETHIOPIAN REVIEW, Aug. 12, 2011.  

Lawyers: Why We Are Different and Why We Are the Same: Creating Structural Incentives in 
Large Law Firms to Promote Ethical Behavior – In-House Ethics Counsel, Bill Padding, 
and In-House Ethics Training, 44 AKRON LAW REV. 679 (2011)(Miller-Becker 
Professional Responsibility Distinguished Lecture Series), reprinted in, 61 DEFENSE LAW 
JOURNAL (Aug. 2012). 

Does ObamaCare, As Written, Prevent Congress From Repealing It?, FOXNEWS.COM (Oct. 28, 
2011, http://www.foxnews.com/opinion/2011/10/27/does-obamacare-prevent-congress-
from-repealing-it/ 

Perry Is Right on Immigration, NATIONAL REVIEW ONLINE, 
http://www.nationalreview.com/corner/281735/perry-right-immigration-ronald-d-rotunda 
(Oct. 31, 2011). 

Kagan’s Recusal from ObamaCare, WASHINGTON TIMES, Dec. 15, 2011, 
http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2011/dec/15/kagan-must-recuse-from-
obamacare-case/ . 

Evidence Mounts against Justice Kagan for Recusal in ObamaCare Suit, FOXNEWS.COM (Jan. 
26, 2012), http://www.foxnews.com/opinion/2012/01/26/evidence-mounts-against-
justice-kagan-for-recusal-in-obamacare-suit/  

Kagan Should Recuse from ObamaCare Case, WASHINGTON EXAMINER, Feb. 14, 2012, 
http://washingtonexaminer.com/kagan-should-recuse-from-obamacare-
case/article/269386   

Supreme Court Justice Elena Kagan and the Obamacare Constitutional Challenge, JUDICIAL 
WATCH SPECIAL REPORT, March 2012. 

Obamacare vs. Conscientious Beliefs, ORANGE COUNTY REGISTER, March 28, 2012, 
http://www.ocregister.com/opinion/government-346533-religious-federal.html  
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Lessons of Watergate, 54 ORANGE COUNTY LAWYER 19 (April 2012). 

Prosecutorial and Judicial Misconduct, NATIONAL LAW JOURNAL, p. 42 (April 30, 2012)(with 
Alan Dershowitz), reprinted in, THE JERUSALEM POST, May 13, 2012. 

The Wrong Legal "Help" for NY's Poor, NEW YORK POST, June 1, 2012. 

ObamaCare Legal Battles Not Over, ORANGE COUNTY REGISTER, Sept. 27, 2012, at p. 9, 
http://www.ocregister.com/opinion/ipab-372820-congress-proposal.html  

Obama Tax-raising Against JFK precedent: Hiking Rates Will Lose Money, WASHINGTON 
TIMES, Dec. 13, 2012, http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2012/dec/12/obama-tax-
raising-against-jfk-precedent/  

Geithner’s “Story of Inflation,” ORANGE COUNTY REGISTER, Jan. 5, 2013, 
http://www.ocregister.com/opinion/inflation-382532-comic-geithner.html  

Blaming Hollywood for Gun Violence Doesn’t Work, WASHINGTON TIMES, Feb. 20, 2013, 
http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2013/feb/20/blaming-hollywood-for-gun-
violence-doesnt-work/  

Exporting American Freedoms, in MODEL, RESOURCE, OR OUTLIER? WHAT EFFECT HAS THE U.S. 
CONSTITUTION HAD ON THE RECENTLY ADOPTED CONSTITUTIONS OF OTHER NATIONS?, at 
12 (Heritage Foundation, May 17, 2013), 
http://www.heritage.org/research/lecture/2013/05/model-resource-or-outlier-what-effect-
has-the-us-constitution-had-on-the-recently-adopted-constitutions-of-other-nations  

‘What did he know, and when did he know it?’, WASHINGTON TIMES, June 5, 2013, 
http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2013/jun/5/what-did-he-know-and-when-did-he-
know-it/?utm_source=RSS_Feed&utm_medium=RSS  

Egypt's Constitutional Do-Over: This Time Around, Take a Closer Look at America's Bill of 
Rights, WALL STREET JOURNAL, JULY 17, 2013, at p. A13, 
http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424127887323740804578601383340547860.html?
mod=WSJ_Opinion_LEFTTopOpinion#articleTabs%3Darticle  

On the Health-Care Mandate, Obama Reaches Beyond the Law, WASHINGTON POST, July 18, 
2013, http://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/on-the-health-care-mandate-obama-
reaches-beyond-the-law/2013/07/18/d442aefc-efb4-11e2-a1f9-ea873b7e0424 story.html  

The Boston Strangler, the Classroom and Me, WALL STREET JOURNAL, JULY 26, 2013, 
http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424127887324783204578623714232084132.html?
KEYWORDS=rotunda  
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Generous Pensions Give New Meaning to 'If It's too Good to Be True,' FORBES MAGAZINE, Sept. 
27, 2013, http://www.forbes.com/sites/realspin/2013/09/27/generous-pensions-give-new-
meaning-to-if-its-too-good-to-be-true/  

Applying the Revised ABA Model Rules in the Age of the Internet: The Problem of Metadata, 52 
HOFSTRA LAW REVIEW 175 (2013). 

On Deep Background 41 Years Later: Roe v. Wade, CHICAGO TRIBUNE, Jan. 22, 2014.  

Congress Cannot Stop the Exporting of American Oil, THE HILL: THE HILL’S FORUM FOR 
LAWMAKERS AND POLICY PROFESSIONALS, Jan. 27, 2014. 

Congress and Lois Lerner in Contempt, DAILY CALLER, April 10, 2014.  

Using the State to Bully Dissidents, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM 
JUSTIA, April 24, 2014. 

Endangering Jurors in a Terror Trial, WALL STREET JOURNAL, May 2, 2014, at p. A13. 

The Ninth Circuit Departs from Tinker in Upholding Ban on American Flag T-Shirts in School, 
VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, May 12, 2014, 
http://verdict.justia.com/2014/05/12/ninth-circuit-departs-tinker-upholding-ban-american-
flag-t-shirts-school#sthash.pHSroRA6.dpuf  

Prayers before Meetings of the Town Board of Greece, New York, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS 
AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, May 19, 2014, 
http://verdict.justia.com/2014/05/19/prayers-meetings-town-board-greece-new-
york#sthash.pIt3d53k.dpuf  

Amending the First Amendment, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, 
June 9, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/06/09/amending-first-amendment  

Increasing Revenue by Lowering Taxes, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM 
JUSTIA, June 23, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/06/23/increasing-revenue-lowering-
taxes  

Changes in the Legal Profession and the Progress of Female Lawyers, VERDICT: LEGAL 
ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, July 7, 2014, 
http://verdict.justia.com/2014/07/07/changes-legal-profession-progress-female-
lawyers#sthash.wKzv73e1.dpuf  

Banning the Export of American Oil, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM 
JUSTIA, July 21, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/07/21/banning-export-american-oil  
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Using Facebook as a Discovery Device, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM 
JUSTIA, Aug. 4, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/08/04/using-facebook-discovery-
device  

Suing the President, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, Aug. 18, 
2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/08/18/suing-president 

IRS Monitoring Religious Groups, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, 
Sept. 15, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/09/15/irs-monitoring-religious-groups  

A Special Counsel to Investigate the IRS Targeting of Tea Party Groups, VERDICT: LEGAL 
ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, Sept. 29, 2014, 
http://verdict.justia.com/2014/09/29/special-counsel-investigate-irs-targeting-tea-party-
groups  

Qualifications for Representatives, in, THE HERITAGE GUIDE TO THE CONSTITUTION 64-67 
(Regnery Publishing 2nd ed. 2014)(with David F. Forte). 

Privileges and Immunities Clause, in, THE HERITAGE GUIDE TO THE CONSTITUTION 349-54 
(Regnery Publishing 2nd ed. 2014)(with David F. Forte). 

Civil Forfeiture in Philadelphia, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, 
Oct. 6, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/10/06/civil-forfeiture-philadelphia  

The Military Commissions Are Still Proceeding, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY 
FROM JUSTIA, Oct. 20, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/10/20/military-commissions-
still-proceeding  

Law Firms Creating In-House Ethics Counsel, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY 
FROM JUSTIA, Nov. 3, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/11/03/law-firms-creating-
house-ethics-counsel  

Targeting Political Speech for the Next Election, WALL STREET JOURNAL, Nov. 5, 2014, p. A19, 
http://online.wsj.com/articles/ronald-rotunda-targeting-political-speech-for-the-next-
election-1415145765  

The Problem of Inflating Billable Hours, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM 
JUSTIA, Nov. 17, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/11/17/problem-inflating-billable-
hours  

The Mystery of Case Assignment in the Ninth Circuit, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND 
COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, Dec. 1, 2014, http://verdict.justia.com/2014/12/01/mystery-
case-assignment-ninth-circuit  
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The Ferguson, Missouri, Tragedy and the Future of Eyewitness Identification, VERDICT: LEGAL 
ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, Dec. 15, 2014, 
http://verdict.justia.com/2014/12/15/ferguson-missouri-tragedy-future-eyewitness-identification  

 
Jonathan Gruber and the Wisdom of Crowds, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM 

JUSTIA, Dec. 29, 2014, 
https://www.facebook.com/ronald.rotunda/posts/10205409160371299?notif_t=like  

 
The President’s Power to Waive the Immigration Laws, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY 

FROM JUSTIA, Jan. 12, 2015, http://verdict.justia.com/2015/01/12/presidents-power-waive-
immigration-laws  

 
The House of Representatives Lawsuit against the Executive Branch, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND 

COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, Feb. 2, 2015, https://verdict.justia.com/2015/02/02/house-
representatives-lawsuit-executive-branch  

 
Je Suis Charlie Hebdo, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, Feb. 16, 2015, 

https://verdict.justia.com/2015/02/16/je-suis-charlie-
hebdo?utm source=twitter&utm campaign=wordtwit&utm medium=web  

 
Protecting Rights in the Supreme Court, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, 

Mar. 3, 2015, https://verdict.justia.com/2015/03/02/protecting-rights-supreme-court  
 
Lawyers Lying in Negotiations, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, MAR. 16, 

2015,  HTTPS://VERDICT.JUSTIA.COM/2015/03/16/LAWYERS-LYING-IN-NEGOTIATIONS  
 
King v. Burwell and the Rise of the Administrative State, 23 U. MIAMI BUSINESS REV. 267 (2015) 
 
Hillary’s Emails and the Law, WALL STREET JOURNAL, March 17, 2015 
 
Is the Federal Government Really a State, if the IRS Says It Is?, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND 

COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, Mar. 30, 2015, https://verdict.justia.com/2015/03/30/is-the-federal-
government-really-a-state-if-the-irs-says-it-is  

 
Ignoring the Supreme Court When You Don’t Like the Result, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS AND 

COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, April 13, 2015, https://verdict.justia.com/2015/04/13/ignoring-the-
supreme-court-when-you-dont-like-the-result  

 
The Way of Death in the Netherlands, Oregon, and, Perhaps, California, VERDICT: LEGAL ANALYSIS 

AND COMMENTARY FROM JUSTIA, April 27, 2015, https://verdict.justia.com/2015/04/27/the-way-
of-death-in-the-netherlands-oregon-and-perhaps-california  
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Other Activities: 

March-April, 1984, Expert Witness for State of Nebraska on Legal Ethics at the Impeachment 
Trial of Nebraska Attorney General Paul L. Douglas (tried before the State Supreme 
Court; the first impeachment trial in nearly a century). 

July 1985, Assistant Chief Counsel, State of Alaska, Senate Impeachment Inquiry of Governor 
William Sheffield, (presented before the Alaskan Senate). 

Speaker at various ABA sponsored conferences on Legal Ethics; Speaker at AALS workshop 
on Legal Ethics; Speaker on ABA videotape series, “Dilemmas in Legal Ethics.” 

Interviewed at various times on Radio and Television shows, such as MacNeil/Lehrer News 
Hour, Firing Line, CNN News, CNN Burden of Proof, ABC’s Nightline, National 
Public Radio, News Hour with Jim Lehrer, Fox News, etc. 

1985--1986, Reporter for Illinois Judicial Conference, Committee on Judicial Ethics. 

1981-1986, Radio commentator (weekly comments on legal issues in the news), WILL-AM 
Public Radio. 

1986-87, Reporter of Illinois State Bar Association Committee on Professionalism. 

1987-2000, Member of Consultant Group of American Law Institute’s RESTATEMENT OF THE 
LAW GOVERNING LAWYERS. 

1986-1994, Consultant, Administrative Conference of the United States (on various issues 
relating to conflicts of interest and legal ethics). 

1989-1992, Member, Bar Admissions Committee of the Association of American Law Schools. 

1990-1991, Member, Joint Illinois State Bar Association & Chicago Bar Association 
Committee on Professional Conduct. 

1991-1997, Member, American Bar Association Standing Committee on Professional 
Discipline.  
CHAIR, Subcommittee on Model Rules Review (1992-1997).  [The subcommittee that I 

chaired drafted the MODEL RULES FOR LAWYER DISCIPLINARY ENFORCEMENT 
that the ABA House of Delegates approved on August 11, 1993.] 

1992, Member, Illinois State Bar Association [ISBA] Special Committee on Professionalism; 
CHAIR, Subcommittee on Celebration of the Legal Profession. 

Spring 1993, Constitutional Law Adviser, SUPREME NATIONAL COUNCIL OF CAMBODIA.  I 
traveled to Cambodia and worked with officials of UNTAC (the United Nations 
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Transitional Authority in Cambodia) and Cambodian political leaders, who were 
charged with drafting a new Constitution to govern that nation after the United Nations 
troop withdrawal. 

1994-1997, LIAISON, ABA Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility. 

1994-1996, Member, Illinois State Bar Association [ISBA] Standing Committee on the 
Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission. 

Winter 1996, Constitutional Law Adviser, SUPREME CONSTITUTIONAL COURT OF MOLDOVA. 

Under the auspices of the United States Agency for International Development, I 
consulted with the six-member Supreme Constitutional Court of Moldova in 
connection with that Court’s efforts to create an independent judiciary.  The Court 
came into existence on January 1, 1996. 

Spring 1996, Consultant, CHAMBER OF ADVOCATES, of the CZECH REPUBLIC. 

Under the auspices of the United States Agency for International Development, I 
spent the month of May 1996, in Prague, drafting Rules of Professional 
Responsibility for all lawyers in the Czech Republic.  I also drafted the first Bar 
Examination on Professional Responsibility, and consulted with the Czech 
Supreme Court in connection with the Court’s proposed Rules of Judicial Ethics 
and the efforts of the Court to create an independent judiciary.  

Consulted with (and traveled to) various counties on constitutional and judicial issues (e.g., 
Romania, Moldova, Ukraine, Cambodia) in connection with their move to democracy. 

1997-1999, Special Counsel, Office of Independent Counsel (Whitewater Investigation). 

Lecturer on issues relating to Constitutional Law, Federalism, Nation-Building, and the Legal 
Profession, throughout the United States as well as Canada, Cambodia, Czech Republic, 
England, Italy, Mexico, Moldova, Romania, Scotland, Turkey, Ukraine, and Venezuela. 

1998-2002, Member, ADVISORY COUNCIL TO ETHICS 2000, the ABA Commission considering 
revisions to the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct. 

2000-2002, Member, ADVISORY BOARD TO THE INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF TEAMSTERS 
(This Board was charged with removing any remaining vestiges of organized crime to 
influence the Union, its officers, or its members.)  This Board was part of “Project 
RISE” (“Respect, Integrity, Strength, Ethics”). 

2001-2008, Member, Editorial Board, CATO SUPREME COURT REVIEW. 

2005-2006, Member of the Task Force on Judicial Functions of the Commission on Virginia 
Courts in the 21st Century: To Benefit All, to Exclude None 
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July, 2007, Riga, Latvia, International Judicial Conference hosted by the United States 
Embassy, the Supreme Court of Latvia, and the Latvian Ministry of Justice. I was one 
of the main speakers along with Justice Samuel Alito, the President of Latvia, the Prime 
Minister of Latvia, the Chief Justice of Latvia, and the Minister of Justice of Latvia 

Since 1994, Member, Publications Board of the ABA Center for Professional Responsibility; 
vice chair, 1997-2001. 

Since 1996, Member, Executive Committee of the Professional Responsibility, Legal Ethics & 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

 
Manuel de Jesus Ortega Melendres, on 
behalf of himself and all others similarly 
situated; et al. 
 

Plaintiffs,  
 
v.  
 
Joseph M. Arpaio, in his individual and 
official capacity as Sheriff of Maricopa 
County, AZ; et al. 
 

Defendants.

No. CV-07-2513-PHX-GMS
 
ORDER  
 

 

 The Court held a status conference on this action on May 08, 2015. Pursuant to 

discussions and the Court’s directions, 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED: 

 1. Deputy County Attorneys Thomas Liddy, Ann Thompson Uglietta, and 

Douglas Schwab’s Amended and Supplemental Application to Withdraw as Counsel of 

Record for Defendants (Doc. 1028) is GRANTED. 

 2. The Court will hold weekly status conferences according to the schedule set 

forth below, at which out-of-state counsel may appear telephonically1: 

  Thursday, May 14, 2015 at 9:30 a.m. 

  Friday, May 22, 2015 at 9:30 a.m. 

  Friday, May 29, 2015 at 10:00 a.m. 
                                              

1 Plaintiffs’ counsel, Andre Segura, is directed to obtain and disseminate the 
conference call-in number to the Court and pertinent parties prior to the status 
conferences. 
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  Friday, June 5, 2015 at 9:30 a.m. 

  Friday, June 12, 2015 at 9:30 a.m. 

 3. The Parties shall hold the dates of June 23–26, 2015 to follow the 

resumption of the show cause proceedings on June 16-19, 2015. The hearings will be 

continued as follows: 

  Tuesday, June 23, 2015 at 1:30 p.m. 

  Wednesday, June 24, 2015 at 9:00 a.m. 

  Thursday, June 25, 2015 at 1:30 p.m. 

  Friday, June 26, 2015 at 9:00 a.m. 

 4. Defendants shall file objections to Plaintiffs’ request for documents 

pertaining to “workplace operations” by Friday, May 15, 2015. Plaintiffs shall file a 

responsive memorandum as soon as practicable.  Plaintiffs may file a motion to compel 

the investigative reports of Don Vogel and the accompanying materials and transcripts, 

and the Defendants shall promptly respond, after which the Court will rule.     

 5. The Parties and specially appearing non-Parties who have received 

documents that contain personally identifying, financial or other confidential information 

pursuant to this Court’s April 23–24, 2015 Orders shall maintain the materials under seal, 

not to be disclosed to others without further Order of the Court. (See Doc. 1032.) 

 6. Defendants have received materials from confidential informant Dennis L. 

Montgomery that he apparently indicated were improperly obtained from the Central 

Intelligence Agency. (“the alleged CIA documents”)  Counsel for Defendants will contact 

the chief legal counsel at the CIA, inform such legal counsel of MCSO’s receipt of the 

alleged CIA documents, this proceeding, the Court’s subsequent discovery orders and the 

CIA’s need to seek relief, if any, with respect to such documents within 14 days of 

today’s date.  Counsel shall take any other steps required by law to contact the 

appropriate officials with respect to documents now in the custody and control of the 

Maricopa County Sheriff’s Office. 

/ / / 
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 7. With respect to the CIA documents, the Defendants will cooperate with the 

Monitor in identifying which documents are those provided by Dennis L. Montgomery to 

the MCSO, and, with respect to those documents, indicating to the parties their contents, 

the files they contain if any, the file’s general contents and organization, and the general 

content of the file.  To the extent that parts of the CIA documents file may have already 

been delivered to the parties in hard copy, the parties may review it, but are bound by the 

confidentiality provisions set forth in paragraph 5 above.   

 8. Any objections to the unsealing of Magistrate Judge John Z. Boyle’s Order 

(Doc. 1053) on the applicability of any attorney-client privilege and/or work-product 

immunity to the materials submitted by Timothy Casey and Thomas Liddy in compliance 

with this Court’s April 27, 2015 Order (Doc. 1033) shall be filed by Tuesday, May 12, 

2015. 

 9. Defendants shall file a supplement to their Notice regarding Completion of 

Internal Investigations (Doc. 1052) to verify the investigations that are complete by 

investigation number and further describe the length of time that the subjects of these 

investigations have to appeal the internal investigation decisions. 

 10. The Court will appoint an independent accountant to review the bills 

submitted to Maricopa County by the Monitor. This independent accountant will perform 

the function that was previously performed by Deputy County Manager for Maricopa 

County, Sandi Wilson, and her attorney in reviewing on a monthly basis the detailed 

billings of the Monitor. The independent accountant will be under the same 

confidentiality obligations and will follow the same procedure that Ms. Wilson followed 

when reviewing the Monitor’s bills as set forth in the Court’s Order (Doc. 696), as 

modified by the statements on today’s record. Ms. Wilson will provide the Court with a 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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 list of three or four qualified individuals to fill this appointment, from which the Court 

will select an available candidate.   

 Dated this 8th day of May, 2015. 

 

Honorable G. Murray Snow
United States District Judge
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 
 

 
Manuel de Jesus Ortega Melendres, on 
behalf of himself and all others similarly 
situated; et al. 
 

Plaintiffs,  
 
v.  
 
Joseph M. Arpaio, in his individual and 
official capacity as Sheriff of Maricopa 
County, AZ; et al. 
 

Defendants.

No. CV-07-2513-PHX-GMS
 
AMENDED ORDER  
 

 

 

 Previously the parties agreed to a confidential procedure in which Sandi Wilson, 

Deputy County Manager for Maricopa County, and her attorney reviewed on a monthly 

and confidential basis the detailed billings of the monitor prior to authorizing payment.  

The details of that arrangement and the required confidentiality procedures were set forth 

in the Court’s Order (Doc. 696).  Recently, Maricopa County has separately re-entered 

this action to assert rights that it claims to be separate from the interests of Sheriff Arpaio 

and/or the MCSO.  In light of that independent representation which may well encompass 

Ms. Wilson’s interests, the Court is uncomfortable authorizing this continued review 

without reconsidering the matter with the parties.  Therefore, pending reconsideration of 

this matter with all parties, the procedure set forth under the Order (Doc. 696) is at least 
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temporarily suspended.  Maricopa County is directed to authorize payment of the 

Monitor’s April invoice.  Ms. Wilson and her counsel remain under the confidentiality 

obligations set forth under the Order (Doc. 696) for those reviews that they have 

conducted to date. 

 Dated this 8th day of May, 2015. 

 

Honorable G. Murray Snow
United States District Judge
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Three months later, in August 2013, Karen sent a Facebook message to Arpaio that described her encounter with Cheri. It said, in part, that "she told me
that her husband hates u and will do anything to get u out of office. This has bothered me since last year when I saw her."

Days later, a private investigator arrived at their home. Jerry Sheridan, Arpaio's chief deputy, said Tim Casey, Arpaio's former defense attorney on the
racial-profiling case, hired the investigator to look into the veracity of the message.

Sheridan said the office was obligated to look into Karen's note: "The sheriff and I felt that we should have our lawyer look into the comment in the event
that it was made, and it was credible, because it went to the judge's state of mind," Sheridan said in an interview.

Dale said he was outside when the private investigator stopped by.

"They came to talk to us and to see how we were and ... if we were a bunch of kooks with tinfoil hanging on our heads," Dale said, laughing.

He says he never learned what happened after their interviews, "But I don't believe the investigator went to investigate Snow's wife."

When asked that question, Sheridan said Casey told him and Arpaio there wasn't enough evidence to take the tip any further.

"And it sat in my desk drawer for a year and a half, until it came out in court when the sheriff was on the stand," Sheridan said. "We had no intention to do
anything with it because we were told it would be unethical for us to make a complaint on a third-party hearsay."

Dale stands by his story, saying he and his wife were truthful in their account.

"I would not go as far to lie for Sheriff Joe," he said. "I mean, I like the guy, but I wouldn't go as far and say ... this. I wouldn't do that. You just don't do
that.

Reach the reporter at yvonne.wingett@arizonarepublic.com or 602-444-4712.

Read or Share this story: http://azc.cc/1bDNNe3
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

Manuel de Jesus Ortega

Melendres, et al.,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

Joseph M. Arpaio, et al.,

Defendants.
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CV 07-2513-PHX-GMS

Phoenix, Arizona

April 24, 2015

8:41 a.m.

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

BEFORE THE HONORABLE G. MURRAY SNOW

(Evidentiary Hearing Day 4, pages 818-1030)

Court Reporter: Gary Moll

401 W. Washington Street, SPC #38

Phoenix, Arizona 85003

(602) 322-7263

Proceedings taken by stenographic court reporter

Transcript prepared by computer-aided transcription
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A P P E A R A N C E S

For the Plaintiffs: Cecillia D. Wang, Esq.

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION

FOUNDATION

Immigrants' Rights Project

39 Drumm Street

San Francisco, California 94111

(415) 343-0775

Stanley Young, Esq.

Hyun S. Byun, Esq.

COVINGTON & BURLING, L.L.P.

333 Twin Dolphin Drive, Suite 700

Redwood Shores, California 94065

(650) 632-4700

Daniel J. Pochoda, Esq.

Joshua D. Bendor, Esq.

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES

FOUNDATION OF ARIZONA

3707 N. 7th St., Suite 235

Phoenix, Arizona 85014

(602) 650-1854

Andre I. Segura, Esq.

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION

FOUNDATION

Immigrants' Rights Project

125 Broad Street, 17th Floor

New York, New York 10004

(212) 549-2676

For the Defendants: Michele M. Iafrate, Esq.

IAFRATE & ASSOCIATES

649 N. 2nd Avenue

Phoenix, Arizona 85003

(602) 234-9775

For the Defendant Maricopa County:

Richard K. Walker, Esq.

WALKER & PESKIND, P.L.L.C.

16100 N. 71st Street

Suite 140

Scottsdale, Arizona 85254

(480) 483-6336
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For the Defendant Arpaio: A. Melvin McDonald, Esq.

JONES, SKELTON & HOCHULI, P.L.C.

2901 N. Central Avenue, Suite 800

Phoenix, Arizona 85012

(602) 263-1700

For Chief Deputy Sheridan: Lee D. Stein, Esq.

MITCHELL STEIN CAREY

One Renaissance Square
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Suite 1900

Phoenix, Arizona 85004

(602) 358-0290

For Executive Chief Sands: Greg S. Como, Esq.

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD

& SMITH, L.L.P.
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Suite 1700

Phoenix, Arizona 85012-2761

(602) 385-1040

For Deputy Chief MacIntyre: Gary L. Birnbaum, Esq.

DICKINSON WRIGHT, P.L.L.C.

Attorneys at Law

1850 N. Central Avenue, Suite 1400

Phoenix, Arizona 85004

(602) 285-5000

For Lieutenant Sousa: David S. Eisenberg, Esq.

DAVID EISENBERG, P.L.C.
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Suite 4003

Phoenix, Arizona 85004

(602) 237-5076
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Chief John Girvin

Chief Raul Martinez

Karen Clark, Esq.

Ralph Adams, Esq.
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P R O C E E D I N G S

THE CLERK: All rise. Court is now in session, the

Honorable G. Murray Snow presiding.

THE COURT: Thank you. Please be seated.

THE CLERK: This is civil case number 07-2513,

Melendres v. Arpaio, on for continued evidentiary hearing.

THE COURT: We ready, Ms. Wang?

MS. WANG: Yes, Your Honor. Good morning.

THE COURT: Good morning.

MS. WANG: Plaintiffs call Gerard Sheridan.

THE CLERK: Step right up here, sir.

Please state your first and last name for the record.

THE WITNESS: Gerard Sheridan. G-e-r-a-r-d,

S-h-e-r-i-d-a-n.

THE CLERK: Thank you. Please raise your right hand.

(Gerard Sheridan was duly sworn as a witness.)

THE CLERK: Thank you. Please take our witness stand.

THE COURT: Please proceed, Ms. Wang.

MS. WANG: Thank you, Your Honor.

GERARD SHERIDAN,

called as a witness herein, having been duly sworn, was

examined and testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. WANG:
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Q. Good morning, Chief Sheridan.

A. Good morning.

Q. Chief, you're currently employed with the Maricopa County

Sheriff's Office, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. How long have you been with the MCSO?

A. A little over 36 years.

Q. And your current position is chief deputy, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. That is the second in command of the entire agency?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Before you were the chief deputy, what position did you

hold?

A. I held the position of the director of detention.

Q. You ran the entire MCSO jail system?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And before that you held various positions in the

Patrol Division, is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. And you served as a patrol deputy earlier on in your

career, correct?

A. I did.

Q. Now, as chief deputy, is it true that you're responsible

for all of the operations of the MCSO?

A. That's correct.
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Q. What became of that investigation?

A. Eventually, nothing.

Q. Why is that?

A. Because we found it difficult to determine the credibility

of the informant.

Q. The credibility of an informant in attempting to make a

criminal case is vital, correct?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. So if you were doubting the credibility of the confidential

informant, the investigation went nowhere?

A. That's correct.

Q. There was some discussion regarding how you pay

confidential informants. Do you know the source of the money

for that confidential informant?

A. I do.

Q. Where? What was the source?

A. RICO funds.

Q. And who is responsible for determining what fund is used?

A. It's normal standing operating procedure that we pay

informants using those RICO funds.

Q. There was another investigation that the judge queried

Sheriff Arpaio about. Do you recall that?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. The question that I think -- and I don't mean to put words

in his mouth, but what the judge asked was: Do you know of
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anyone that investigated Judge Snow or a family member?

Do you recall that question?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Do you know of anyone that investigated Judge Snow or a

family member of Judge Snow?

A. The reason I'm hesitating in answer -- answering the

question is because I've been around lawyers for the last five

years and I know words mean certain things. We did not

investigate Judge Snow's wife.

Q. Who was investigated?

A. We contacted an individual that talked to Judge Snow's

wife.

Q. How did you find out about this conversation with an

individual and Judge Snow's wife?

A. An individual sent a private Facebook page message to

Sheriff Arpaio in August of 2013.

Q. And what was the content of that Facebook message?

A. I'd rather not say.

Q. Well, I'm asking you what it said. If I sit down and the

judge chooses to ask that very same question, are you going to

answer it?

A. I will answer the question if the Court orders me to answer

that question.

THE COURT: Well, let me ask you, was it about me?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: And did it make allegations that I was

doing something illegal?

THE WITNESS: No, sir.

THE COURT: Did it make allegations that I was biased

in this litigation?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right. You may go ahead and answer.

BY MS. IAFRATE:

Q. Do you remember the question?

A. Could you please repeat it?

Q. Sure. You were talking about this Facebook message that

went to the sheriff's office, and I asked you what was the

content of the message.

A. Yes. I can't quote it verbatim, but it was -- I know

Judge Snow's wife. She told me he hates you and he wants to

see you out of office.

Q. Did you identify who that message was from?

A. Yes. The header from the individual that it came from was

Karen Grissom.

Q. Did you learn -- subsequently learn more about how

Ms. Grissom came to get this information that Judge Snow's wife

said that Judge Snow hates the sheriff and wants to get him out

of office?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. What did you -- what did you learn subsequently?



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

16:20:06

16:20:38

16:20:58

16:21:10

16:21:26

Sheridan - Cross, Melendres v. Arpaio, 4/24/15 963

A. I learned that Ms. Grissom was at a restaurant in the

East Valley with her husband and her adult son. They were met

by Judge Snow's wife and his daughter near the counter to pay

the cashier. Apparently, they knew each other from when they

were children growing up in Yuma, I believe, and that

Judge Snow's wife recognized her as childhood friends, but

actually she mistook her for her other -- for Ms. Grissom's

sister, and they had a conversation about life, they hadn't

seen each other for years, and then this conversation occurred.

Q. So why -- why was Ms. Grissom being investigated?

A. I'm sorry, what was that question?

Q. Why was Ms. Grissom being investigated?

THE COURT: If I understood correctly, Ms. Iafrate,

Ms. Grissom was not being investigated. She was the person who

wrote the e-mail to the sheriff.

MS. IAFRATE: She was the person who wrote the e-mail

to the sheriff and then subsequently was investigated.

THE COURT: Oh, I didn't know that.

THE WITNESS: Well, no one was investigated.

BY MS. IAFRATE:

Q. Okay. The investigator spoke to her?

A. She was interviewed, her husband was interviewed, her son

was interviewed, for the veracity of Ms. Grissom's Facebook

message to the sheriff.

Q. And were the husband and the son present when -- supposedly
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present when this statement by Ms. -- by Judge Snow's wife was

made?

A. Yes, as well as His Honor's daughter, also.

Q. Ultimately, following the interviews of these individuals

was the statement deemed credible?

A. Yes.

THE COURT: Maybe we ought to go back. I missed the

whole investigation.

MS. IAFRATE: Okay.

THE COURT: It probably makes sense to only go through

this once.

MS. IAFRATE: Yes.

THE COURT: So I got that Karen Grissom, who is an

acquaintance or a friend of my -- childhood friend of my wife

from Yuma, met my wife and daughter in a restaurant, said

something about what I supposedly feel about Sheriff Arpaio. I

didn't hear -- and then you said there was an investigation.

Who did the investigation?

MS. IAFRATE: Okay, so let me back up. I used the

wrong verb, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

BY MS. IAFRATE:

Q. You said an investigator interviewed Ms. Grissom.

THE COURT: Can we go back? Can we jointly ask these

questions?
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MS. IAFRATE: Sure.

THE COURT: Who hired the investigator?

THE WITNESS: Mr. Casey.

THE COURT: All right. And so do you mind if I ask a

question? You can interrupt me.

MS. IAFRATE: I will not interrupt you.

THE COURT: Please do.

MS. IAFRATE: I will not.

THE COURT: In all seriousness, Ms. Iafrate, I think

that if you have objections or if anybody else does, they ought

to make them, even though I -- I'm asking questions.

EXAMINATION

BY THE COURT:

Q. I take it, then, that the sheriff discussed this e-mail

with his counsel?

A. That's correct, Your Honor.

Q. All right. And I take it, then, that the decision was

made, by whom I don't know, that there should be an

investigator that would contact Ms. Grissom.

A. That's correct.

Q. All right. And it's your understanding -- or do you know

that Mr. Casey hired that investigator?

A. I do know that, yes, he did.

Q. All right. Are you aware that Mr. Casey has filed a press

release which, while acknowledging -- I read the press release
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because he sent it to my office. You're aware that Mr. Casey,

while acknowledging that he has duties to you and not

commenting on it, denies that he was involved in any way, or he

says -- he doesn't deny anything, but he says something to the

effect that he's confidant that when the materials are

evaluated he was not involved in any way in the investigation

of me or a member of my family.

And is it your view that you were at a conversation in

which that just simply isn't true? That if I read it that way,

my understanding is wrong?

A. Your Honor, that -- that's where I started out saying it

depends on how you define "investigated your wife," because

no one, no one ever went any further than just verifying that

conversation --

Q. All right.

A. -- occurred.

Q. Mr. Casey hired, if not an investigator, somebody?

A. That's correct.

Q. And that somebody went and talked to Ms. Grissom?

A. Correct.

THE COURT: Okay.

CROSS-EXAMINATION CONTINUED

BY MS. IAFRATE:

Q. And also spoke to her husband and her grown son?

A. Correct.
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Q. Who also heard the statements?

A. Who verified her statement, yes.

THE COURT: Okay. I'm with you. Go ahead.

BY MS. IAFRATE:

Q. Okay. So based on this investigation, what was done with

this information? I don't want you to reveal attorney-client

privilege, but ultimately, what was the end game of these

interviews with these individuals?

A. Nothing.

MS. IAFRATE: I believe I'll stop there, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you.

Do you have any more? You're through with your

examination?

MS. IAFRATE: Yes.

THE COURT: All right.

Mr. Walker?

MR. WALKER: Your Honor, I would like to defer on this

witness also, particularly since he's going to be coming back

in June in any event.

THE COURT: All right.

Mr. Como.

MR. COMO: I don't have any questions at this time,

Your Honor.

FURTHER EXAMINATION

BY THE COURT:
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Q. You know, I've got some questions that may be helpful for

both of us in terms of where we're going. You and I have had

some unpleasant interactions; I think you indicated that early

on.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I think you've done some wrong things and I told you so,

did I not?

A. Yes, sir, you have.

Q. I also have mentioned when I thought you did things that

were praiseworthy, have I not?

A. I've also noted that, too, thank you.

Q. All right. You talked about people needing to know who

Jerry Sheridan is. And I do need to know who Jerry Sheridan is

to some extent, as I'm required to make the decisions that I'm

required to make.

You understand that?

A. I do, Your Honor.

Q. It strikes me that you're a person who values loyalty.

Is that a fair statement?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Let me tell you that in your testimony this morning you

said something that I want to talk to you a little bit about

before we go on with other questions, because I don't want to

give you the impression that I want you to dump on anybody, but

I also don't want to give you the impression that I want you to
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take responsibility for the actions of other people.

And this morning, in testimony when you were

discussing the conversation which is the third article of

contempt that I've talked about, which is the conversation that

you had with Chief Trombi in directing him to send out e-mail?

You know what I'm talking about?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you have accepted responsibility for giving that

direction, but this morning I think you said something like:

Well, I accept responsibility for giving the direction, but I

think we were all discussing it.

Do you remember that, when you said something like

that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. All right. I'm not sure that I'll ask you all my questions

today, but I think it would be profitable for us to at least

start.

When I ask you questions, I understand that you have

a -- or I believe that you value loyalty. If it is true that

you were alone responsible for decisions or things that I'm

asking you about, I want you to tell me that. But if it is

true that you, in addition to others, participated in

decisions, I want you to tell me that, too. In other words, I

want you to tell me the truth and the whole truth. Okay?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And the whole truth sometimes means that if you did it,

and -- or if you did something and you did it alone, you say

so. But I don't want you to, for example, assume

responsibility alone if that's not your responsibility.

Can we agree to that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And by that I'm not trying to suggest that you dump on

Sheriff Arpaio, either. I just -- I just want the truth.

As I did with him, I just want to be sure that you're

conceding the civil contempt on the preliminary injunction

order. You're conceding that you are in civil contempt for

violating that order, is that correct?

A. That's correct, Your Honor.

Q. And if I understand correctly, you're also conceding that

you're in contempt for the communication you had with Sheriff

Trombi that resulted in the large dissemination, not

necessarily because it was a bad way of doing things in your

mind, but because it violated my order,is that correct?

A. That's correct, Your Honor.

Q. You've already talked about, and I don't know that we have

to spend a lot of time talking about, the fact that SID was

where -- well, I'm now on the May 14th time frame, right?

You and I had the discussion on May 14th -- this

wasn't the bad discussion where I held your feet to the fire,

but this is where you came forward, you showed me all the stuff
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that was in the Armendariz house, I told you -- and we had the

discussion about quietly gathering stuff.

You're there with me?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. I did express to you in this discussion, do you

remember this, that I had concern about you conducting the

investigation because there were so many potential conflicts of

interest.

A. Correct.

Q. Do you remember that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you knew that a lot of the de -- a lot of the

investigation would have to be done by your internal

investigation folks, which I think you call the PSB?

A. We do now, yes.

Q. Was it then still Internal Affairs?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. All right. And as we've said, Bailey came from Special

Investigations.

A. Yes.

Q. And that's the person that you put in charge of Internal

Affairs shortly after you -- shortly after our May 14

conversation, within a month or so.

A. That's correct.

Q. All right. And in his role as the -- at Special
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Investigations, he had supervisorial responsibility for

Deputy Armendariz for a short period of time, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And I think it was, like, three months. That sound about

right?

A. It may not have even been that long, Your Honor, because

I -- I know he was the one that actually got Charley

transferred out of HSU.

Q. Well, you understood, and we'll go through this in a

minute, but you understood that we're concerned about the

supervision of Deputy Armendariz, and that that was one of the

things that was eventually investigated and that is still being

investigated, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And you also understood that we had all this array of

material in the Armendariz home that apparently came from what

looked to be like his HSU responsibilities, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And that among those things there were a bunch of

identifications. There were Mexican identifications, there

were other identifications from other areas of the country,

there were all kinds of identifications and other things.

You understood that, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. In addition to those identifications, there was Mexican
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money in various denominations in the Armendariz home, was

there not?

A. I believe there was.

Q. There was a bunch of drugs?

A. Yes.

Q. There were credit cards?

A. Yes.

Q. And there were bank cards and debit cards and gift cards?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And there were passports, license plates, all kinds of

things.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. All right. Now, when he came to PSB he brought with him

Sergeant Tennyson, right? Or do you know?

A. I don't know. I -- I don't know, sir.

Q. Is Sergeant Tennyson a homicide investigator? I will tell

you, I may be wrong, but I'm under the impression that he

brought Sergeant Tennyson with him from the homicide

department.

A. I don't recall, sir, sorry.

Q. There are divisions within the PSB as you've now set it up,

right?

A. Yes. There's the criminal division, and then there's the

administrative division, and that's been that way for a long,

long time.
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Q. All right. And unlike other police departments, if a

police officer commits a crime, let's say, for example,

aggravated assault, it's not -- pardon me -- it's not

investigated by the normal investigators, it's investigated by

the PSB. In other words, it's not investigated by somebody who

would investigate me for aggravated assault.

A. That's correct, Your Honor. It would be investigated by

the criminal section of our Professional Standards Bureau.

Q. All right. So you have a criminal section and you have

what you call the administrative section, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. So the criminal section investigates officers who are

actually under suspicion for crimes. And it does the -- it

does those investigations as opposed to the assault and battery

unit. I know that's not a unit, but you know what I'm saying?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then you have the administrative unit. What does the

administrative unit investigate?

A. They would investigate citizens' complaints, policy

violations, those types of things, personnel issues.

Q. And they would investigate to see things for violations of

MCSO policy?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And MCSO policy violations can result in internal

discipline, but not criminal prosecution.
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A. Correct.

Q. When a complaint comes in, who determines which will be

assigned to what? I mean, who determines whether the complaint

is assigned to criminal or to administrative?

A. Captain Bailey and myself would make that decision, sir.

Q. All right. So you're pretty involved in the operation of

PSB?

A. Yes. Captain Bailey reports directly to me.

Q. And so when a matter comes in, Captain Bailey brings it to

you. You and he decide whether it's going to be assigned to

the criminal or to the administrative.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Who assigns an officer to investigate?

A. That would be Captain Bailey's decision.

Q. Ultimately, in the criminal division who decides whether a

criminal matter should be taken to the county attorney?

A. I'm not sure I understand your question, Your Honor.

Are you talking now about just a normal somebody from

General Investigations Division, or normal --

Q. No, no, no, no, no. If you in the PSB criminal division

decide that there ought to be a criminal prosecution for

something that an officer has done, you have to take that to

the county attorney for a decision, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Who makes that decision?
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A. That would be, again, made with discussion between the

detective that's investigating the crime, the captain, and

myself, usually.

Q. And then you'd take it to the county attorney?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Or I'm not saying you, but somebody in that group would

take it to the county attorney for a charging decision.

A. Yes. The detective that investigated the incident.

Q. Now, do you make the final decision on administrative

discipline as well?

A. No, sir.

Q. Who does?

A. That's delegated to -- for the deputies, Deputy Chief

Lopez, or for the detention side it would be Deputy Chief John

Marshon.

Q. Okay. Now we -- I think I heard testimony, I know I heard

testimony that suggested that if you delay too long in

completing an administrative investigation, that limits the

dis -- pardon me -- the disciplinary options that can be

imposed on an officer, even if they have violated a Maricopa

County -- or MCSO policy.

A. Yes and no, Your Honor. There -- it's -- there is a

timeline that is set by state statute that we could still

discipline someone. However, upon appeal by that individual,

most likely it would be overturned if they appealed their
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discipline.

Q. So if an administrative investigation goes too long, you

just don't impose discipline. Or you don't impose -- impose

serious discipline.

A. For the most part, no. We -- we haven't really run into

that too much.

Q. But a delay in conducting an administrative investigation

would be important and unfortunate?

A. That's correct. I know I had to sign some letters for

Mr. Vogel because the investigation was going beyond the time

period. That extends that time period. That doesn't absolve

us of exceeding that time period, but it would be arguable

during the personnel hearing that we followed some due process,

and it would be up to the -- the board, the merit commission,

to decide whether that discipline would stand if it was major

discipline or not.

But we have never had that challenged as yet.

Q. In any case, Sergeant Tennyson, whether he was a homicide

detective or what, was assigned to do a criminal investigation

for the materials found in the Armendariz home.

A. That's correct.

Q. And he was subject to the oversight of my monitor staff,

correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And my monitor staff didn't think he did a very good job,
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did they?

A. No, sir.

Q. And in fact, they issued a report to me about which I held

a hearing, and you were present at that hearing, and it was in

late October, right? Do you remember it?

A. I remember the hearing, sir.

Q. That was part of the one -- that was part of the same

hearing where I was --

A. I try and forget those kinds of things, but yes, I

remember.

Q. All right. And do you remember that at the beginning of

that hearing I had my monitor, and I'm not going to read it all

to you, but I had him outline some of the concerns he had with

the criminal investigation that had been performed by Captain

Tennyson. You remember that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I'm just going to read you one paragraph. I'd like at this

time to emphasize -- this is Mr. Warshaw -- in our collective

judgment as a monitoring team, and we have hundreds of years of

experience, we have never seen, having seen a good number of

the interviews that occurred as part and parcel of that

criminal inquiry, we had never seen a more deficient,

unprofessional set of aimless interviews, interviews replete

with extraordinary familiarities, informalities, and apologetic

treatment towards those who are being interviewed. This, in
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our view, Your Honor, called into question the seriousness in

which the MCSO had taken the order of this Court.

He said that, right? Or you remember him saying

something like that?

A. I remember something like that, yes, sir.

Q. And do you remember that I indicated in that hearing that

I'd actually watched a videotape of one of Sergeant Tennyson's

interviews and I was very unimpressed?

A. I do remember that, yes, sir.

Q. And do you remember that there were a number of other

problems that we discussed relating to the investigation as I

perceived it, and we moved forward? Or we -- we had a long

hearing then.

Do you remember some of those things? And I've lost

my notes. You remember that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remember that one of the things we raised in that

hearing is it became clear to us at that time that Detective

Bailey had, in fact, directly supervised Sergeant Armendariz.

You remember that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. We raised it with him?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then do you remember that Chief Warshaw called you the

next day and said: You can't have Bailey interviewing
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Armendariz about -- or Armendariz was dead by that time, but

you can't have Bailey conducting his own interview of himself

for his supervision of Armendariz and for all that may have

happened in his home. And he suggested -- or I don't know

whether he suggested or directed that you get an outside

investigator to handle that investigation.

Do you remember that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And within a day or two you wrote him back and said that

you'd hired Detective Vogel to do the -- to be an independent

investigator.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you also recall that in the course of that --

approximately that time -- and I don't know if you've seen

this, Chief, but I'm going to give it to you anyway.

THE COURT: And I'm going to have my clerk mark it.

It's materials -- mark it as an exhibit, please.

I'm not going to introduce it because I'm not sure the

chief has the foundation, but I'm going to show it to you.

We were -- my monitor was provided this incident

report. I've got copies for all counsel. It's MELC028130 --

these are the Bates numbers -- through MELC028159.

If you'd just distribute that to counsel, Ms. Iafrate,

I'd appreciate it.

I need one, Kathleen. I just gave away all mine. If
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you can pull one back.

BY THE COURT:

Q. And have you seen this before?

A. No, I have not.

Q. Are you capable of recognizing Sergeant Whelan's signature?

Do you know it or not?

A. I -- I don't know it, but it looks like probably

Sergeant Dimitri Whelan.

Q. And this -- what is this?

MS. IAFRATE: Your Honor, could I just clarify? This

is not Sergeant Dimitri Whelan.

THE COURT: Oh, okay. I don't know who it is.

MS. IAFRATE: Okay. I just wanted to clarify so that

that wasn't on the record.

BY THE COURT:

Q. And what is this? What does it look like it is?

A. This is an incident report for found property.

Q. And it looks like the found property was dropped off at

property and evidence for destruction, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And it is Sergeant Frei who says --

A. Oh, reviewed by, okay.

Q. Is it "Fray" or "Fry"? Am I mispronouncing it?

A. I'm not familiar with him.

MS. IAFRATE: Your Honor --
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THE COURT: Neither one of us know --

MS. IAFRATE: -- Sergeant "Fry."

BY THE COURT:

Q. Okay, Sergeant "Fry." And he has been holding on to all of

these identifications for five years, and he's being -- and

he's dropping them off for destruction, and he says the

identifications were used for training purposes only, as most

of the criminal employment unit was certified in document

examination and had some training in forged fraudulent

questioned documents.

Do you see where he's saying that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And he says he's attaching the identifications, and they

have been attached.

And do you see those?

A. I do.

Q. But the very first page is not identifications, is it?

A. No, sir.

Q. It's a memo from Sergeant Frei to Captain Bailey written in

May when Captain Bailey was still the Special Investigations

division, right? Or that's what it looks like?

A. That -- yes, sir.

Q. And it says, gosh, I've got all these identifications. And

see the attached photocopies. And so it looks like Sergeant

Frei has written this memorandum to Captain Bailey, right?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then there's a bunch of identifications that are

attached.

You see that?

A. I do.

Q. And again, Sergeant Frei says that these identifications

were used for training purposes only, as most of the Criminal

Employment Unit is certified in documentation -- document

examination or has had some training in

forged/fraudulent/questioned documents.

You see that?

A. I do.

Q. Did you know that my monitor asked for any training that

your folks had had in document examination and training for

forged/fraudulent/questioned documents, and they received only

one person who had ever done such training in response?

Did the monitor team ever tell you that?

A. I'm not aware of that, no, sir.

Q. All right. Now, if you'll look at all these documents --

just look at the first page, but I think it's fairly

representative -- most of these documents are, like, Mexican

consular identifications, driver's license from individual

states in Mexico, various other Mexican identifications.

There's a social security card and a couple of Arizona driver's

licenses. Do you see that?
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A. I do.

Q. Do you have any idea why people would assume that

identifications were fraudulent if they'd taken them from

people they'd arrested as illegal aliens and all they did was

show that they were Mexican?

A. I don't, Your Honor.

Q. In fact, all of -- a great number of these documents, as

you look through them, are Mexican identifications, aren't

they? And it wouldn't make any -- any sense for somebody to

fabricate Mexican identification documents if they wanted to

pass themselves off as an American citizen, would it?

A. Correct, it would not.

Q. So it looks like the -- well, the date that was -- they

were transmitted to be destroyed was November 6th, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And my monitor team, when it received a copy of these

documents, I think, called and stopped the destruction so that

they were not destroyed. I'm not sure about that, maybe some

other reason. But the documents do seem to indicate that they

were provided to Captain Bailey when Captain Bailey was SID

captain, and that -- it just would be problematic to have him

investigating seized documents when he received such a document

earlier. Wouldn't you agree?

A. I would agree.

Q. All right. Then you knew that I -- you knew that I had
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questions with Sergeant Tennyson's investigative techniques and

determinations?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And we had another hearing on November 20th.

Do you remember that one?

A. Not specifically, Your Honor.

Q. It's the one where Mr. Casey withdrew.

Oh, he's not in the courtroom any more.

A. Yes.

Q. It's the one where Mr. Casey withdrew.

A. I remember that.

Q. All right. I'm going to give you another document and I'm

going to have my courtroom deputy mark that one, too.

This one I think you might remember.

THE CLERK: You need a copy?

THE COURT: Yes, let's give chief the marked exhibit.

MS. IAFRATE: Your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes.

MS. IAFRATE: While this is being marked, could I just

raise one objection regarding --

THE COURT: Yes, surely.

MS. IAFRATE: To my knowledge, Chief Sheridan has

never seen that document that you provided to me, or the

attachments.

THE COURT: I didn't purport to say that he had, and I
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haven't moved it in evidence.

This hearing for me is serving multiple purposes, and

part of them is to demonstrate part of my frustration with

what -- what appear to be deficiencies in the ongoing

operations of MCSO. And I, like Ms. Wang, am not going to get

into matters that are under seal, but I'm going to start with

matters that are out of seal so that --

MS. IAFRATE: My --

THE COURT: -- everyone can be informed of what my

concerns are during the break, including Chief Sheridan. Then

I'll have a few final questions on some other matters, and then

we can end for the weekend and discuss scheduling.

MS. IAFRATE: My only objection is that there were

some statements that Chief Sheridan made in order to agree with

you regarding certain things and they weren't accurate. The

rationale for that is he has never seen that set of documents

before.

THE COURT: Fair enough, and you've preserved any such

objections.

BY THE COURT:

Q. Did you have the marked exhibit, Chief? Have you been

given that yet?

A. Yes, sir, I have.

Q. What's the number on it?

A. Number 1001.
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Q. All right. If you turn to the back page of number 1001 it

has a handwritten notation in what looks to me to be your

signature.

A. That's correct.

Q. Is that your signature?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And is that your handwritten notation?

A. It is, sir.

Q. And do you remember receiving this report from

Sergeant Tennyson?

A. I do.

Q. Now, part of the reason that we had the October hearing is

that Sergeant Tennyson had closed the criminal investigation,

and my monitor folks didn't like that, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. And we had the October hearing, and then this is a new

memorandum closing the October -- or still closing the

Armendariz criminal investigation, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you have signed off on that closure.

A. Yes, I did.

Q. All right. If you would be so kind as to turn to the

second page and -- skip the first paragraph, but do you see

where it says Most recently the Professional Standards Bureau

Criminal Division investigated a claim made by Cisco -- a
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former deputy who was Cisco Perez.

Do you remember that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And it says we interviewed 45 officers and -- and there was

just a bunch of identifications involved, and so we wrote a

memorandum to Keith Manning of the Maricopa County Attorney's

Office for review and possible prosecutorial consideration of

the Cisco Perez matter.

A. I see that, yes, sir.

Q. And is that what you recall reading?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then if you turn to the next page, he quotes, actually,

what Mr. Manning, who's the law enforcement liaison, told him.

And I'm going to summarize it. If you don't like what I say,

correct me; I'm trying to move along, okay?

A. Okay.

Q. Mr. Manning said: Look, this isn't good that they've got

this stuff, that the deputies have this stuff, but we can't

identify victims for these identifications, and they're not

worth anything, so there's no criminal action to be had here,

is that correct?

A. It's correct.

Q. And so he said then, in the next paragraph, which is part

of his memo to you, Sergeant Tennyson said, well, one of the --

he seems to suggest that one of the reasons Armendariz might
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have had all this stuff in his home is because he's a packrat,

right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And then he says in the next paragraph we had a female

detention coworker who says he took stuff, and he accused her

of bringing stuff to his home, but she denies it, basically, is

what he says, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And then the third paragraph, you remember when

Chief Warshaw talked about the overfamiliarity and lack of

critical judgment that seemed to take place in these

investigations is one of his concerns?

A. Sergeant Tennyson's investigations, correct?

Q. Yeah.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You see this third paragraph? "It is with great respect

for those Deputies associated with the MCSO Human Smuggling

Unit the following be noted. Based on this inquiry as well as

the aforementioned criminal investigation HSU Detectives

invested much effort carrying out duties as they related to

Human Smuggling Operations. With every effort not to

overshadow the tremendous work of the Detectives and

Supervisors in the unit..."

Then he says it looks like they've done some wrong

things, right.
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. Doesn't that seem to be strange language for somebody who's

just supposed to be investigating whether or not they engaged

in criminal conduct?

A. It would be, Your Honor, if that was placed in their -- in

a criminal report. This is a -- a memorandum that

Sergeant Tennyson wrote to me concerning the overall findings

of his investigation and the County Attorney's turndown.

There was a lot of thought and discussion that went

into me signing off on this on that day.

Q. Was there a lot of thought?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I'm going to tell you a couple of problems I have with it,

so you'll know. And you'll see these and some of my

criticisms, and I'll have others that express my real concerns

about how MCSO's doing some things. These are fairly minor,

but I thought they would be illustrative.

You see the next paragraph when it says we've made all

investigative efforts to determine why some of the

identification documents ended up in Deputy Armendariz's home

and we just can't come to any conclusion. So it's not clear

why the items did not remain with the arrestee or why the items

were not placed into property and evidence.

Do you see that?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Do you agree with that conclusion?

A. Well, from a --

Q. Let me ask it this way, Chief, and I'm sorry, I know I'm

interrupting you. You're aware that I subsequently authorized

my monitors to do an independent investigation of the number of

investigations that were within the MCSO.

You're aware of that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you're aware that even though this was characterized by

the MCSO deputies as we were just holding a few of these for

training for fraudulent -- training purposes to dem -- show

people fraudulent identification, that they couldn't identify a

single training where they had used them to show fraudulent

identification. And as I said, most of these identifications

people would rightfully own, since they were Mexican consular

identifications, and my monitor subsequently determined that it

was a widespread practice, and I'm not saying everybody or even

the majority of people did it, but it was a widespread practice

to seize -- seize these sorts of identifications --

A. Um-hum.

Q. -- without turning them in to property and evidence, and

throwing them into bins in all the districts. It wasn't just

HSU, it was widespread throughout the department, wasn't it?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And so Deputy Perez's allegations and why Sergeant
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Armendariz would have a bunch, and we found Powe and Gandar and

Frei had a bunch, that's just not that uncommon at the time in

the MCSO, was it?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now, the last paragraph. "Based on the criteria provided

by the Maricopa County Attorney's Office regarding elements

needed for the criminal offense of theft as defined by Arizona

State Law has not been met."

And so he's referring, at least I understand him to be

referring to Keith Manning's conclusion that we don't have a

crime or we don't have an identifiable victim, and the

property's not worth anything, right.

A. Correct.

Q. And you agree with that conclusion as it pertains to the

Armendariz investigation, right?

A. I do, Your Honor.

Q. And so you closed the criminal investigation.

A. Yes.

Q. But the Armendariz investigation is different from the

Perez investigation, wasn't it?

A. Yes, it was.

Q. Because it wasn't just identifications we were dealing

with. There was money, and there were credit cards, and there

were gift cards, and there were debit cards.

Those things have value, don't they?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. And they can -- the victims of those things can be

identified because their name's right on the credit card.

A. Correct.

Q. And so Attorney Manning's conclusions that there wasn't an

identifiable victim and the thing wasn't worth value, although

in fairness it applies to, perhaps, many of the identifications

in the Armendariz investigation, doesn't apply to them all,

does it?

A. No, sir. Can I -- can I be heard?

Q. You certainly may.

A. Okay. The thought process --

Q. Let me ask you first: Did you have a thought process or

did you just assume that the investigation was the same?

A. I had a thought process.

Q. All right. Let's hear it.

A. Okay. I'm the one that ordered an -- criminal

investigation into this issue of the ID cards for all the

members from the Human Smuggling Unit. It was fairly close to

the beginning of the administrative investigation after Charley

Armendariz, all those items were found in his garage that

had -- basically was in its infancy at that point.

When we discovered comment from former Deputy Perez,

who, again, I just want to emphasize, was terminated by us for

truthfulness, and only because we couldn't prove the fact that
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he was actually running guns, even though he had made

statements to that on the wiretap. We had some good statements

from him, but it wasn't good enough to charge him criminally

working with the drug cartels.

So with that information from former Deputy Perez, I

ordered a criminal investigation for all the deputies that were

in HSU, because he had made the comment that we took things

from crime scenes and that kind of thing.

And when we did so, I was told by Captain Bailey that

he was questioned by one of the monitor teams: Why are you

doing that? And basically questioning the wisdom of doing a

criminal investigation on these issues. And my assumption was

that it was, Why are you wasting your time with that when we

have this huge Armendariz investigation going on, because this

was going to be very time-consuming. We had to stop the

administrative investigation for HSU and the spin-off for

Charley Armendariz because we cannot commingle the criminal

investigation while there's an administrative investigation.

We have to complete the criminal investigation first.

Q. I get that. And the criminal investigation tolls the

administrative one from running, tolls the time limit on the

administrative investigation?

A. Well, it certainly doesn't help when you have that.

Q. Let me ask you another question, if I can.

A. Your Honor, can I --
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Q. Yeah.

A. Can I finish?

Q. Sure.

A. Okay.

Q. You know what, though? There is one area I wanted to get

to. We're after 5 o'clock, I told you we might run a little

over, and I'll dispense with all my other questions, but I do

have one area I still want to cover with you.

A. Okay.

Q. Okay?

A. My wife came in, so I think she'll give me permission to

stay late.

Q. Hope so.

A. Okay. So with that in mind, we -- and I know there was a

lot of discussion with how the questions were to be asked by

the monitor team, and there was tension between Sergeant

Tennyson, who, contrary to some -- the opinion of the Court,

has a very good reputation as a criminal investigator, did run

this by the County Attorney's Office, who felt that there was

no value, there was no intent to deprive anyone of anything of

value, and the fact was we could not interview Charley

Armendariz because he was dead.

So the Armendariz part of this criminal investigation

was what we would call exceptionally cleared because we can't

interview the suspect. And so therefore, it would be --
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Q. Can I interrupt? I think I understand what your answer is.

But the truth was that the property found at Armendariz's house

was often not seized by Armendariz, was it? It was seized by

other deputies.

Did you not know that?

A. I know there was some -- there was an allegation to that

effect. I'm not sure --

Q. I'll tell you that it's since been confirmed by your own --

A. Okay.

Q. -- investigation.

So terminating the criminal investigation just because

Armendariz is dead terminates the investigation as to all the

other deputies who did the seizure of the property that was in

Armendariz's house. And would you acknowledge, and I don't --

you know, I don't -- you can object if you want, Ms. Iafrate --

your memo doesn't say -- doesn't take into account that the

property seized in the Armendariz investigation is -- isn't

just identifications, it's valuable items, even if you view

identifications as not valuable, with identifiable victims that

distinguishes this investigation from the investigation you

were relying on with Keith Manning, doesn't it?

A. I guess I'm a little bit confused --

Q. Well, we'll leave this --

A. Okay.

Q. -- because I want to go to something else.
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A. Okay.

Q. We can take it up again another time.

Let's talk about the Montgomery investigation.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Chief -- or Sheriff Arpaio yesterday said that you were in

charge of that investigation. Is that true?

MR. WALKER: Your Honor --

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. WALKER: Just so the record is clear, when we use

the word -- the name Montgomery, can we make it clear it's

Dennis Montgomery?

THE COURT: Yes. I'm sorry, that's correct. It's

Dennis Montgomery, who is the confidential informant.

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

BY THE COURT:

Q. And I have some questions on this. Sheriff Arpaio said

you -- folks reported to you.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You seemed hesitant about that.

A. Well, I'm only hesitant because when you said that I'm in

charge of, the detective, Brian Mackiewicz, I would consider

him to be in charge of an investigation.

Q. All right. And so he is in charge of the investigation?

A. Correct.

Q. He's a sergeant?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. There is -- is it Sergeant Anglin as well?

A. Yes, sir. For a short time he was involved in the case.

Q. And somebody from your posse?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And they spent a lot of time in Seattle?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you report to Sheriff Arpaio about what they were

doing?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How often did you report to Sheriff Arpaio about what they

were doing?

A. We got weekly updates, sometimes twice a week.

Q. Think he understood what they were doing?

A. I would think so, yes.

Q. You heard him yesterday say that the DOJ was wiretapping me

and other judges, and that that was part of that investigation.

You heard that testimony, didn't you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I didn't hear you say anything about that. Was that part

of the investigation?

A. I -- it's my recollection that I don't believe you were.

There were wiretaps. I know that there were wiretap numbers

that were from my phone and the sheriff's phone in about 2008.

I certainly don't recall yours.
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What maybe the sheriff was confusing that with, there

were -- there was information that Dennis Montgomery gave us

that certain law offices, Jones, Skelton & Hochuli, Ogletree

Deakins, two law firms that represented us in the DOJ case,

were breached. One in particular with Mr. Popolizio, who was

representing us.

Q. Well, let's go back to my question.

A. I'm getting there, Your Honor.

Q. Okay.

A. Because you're next.

Q. Okay.

A. And also there was some information that your e-mail from

the court was possibly there -- there might have been an e-mail

from the -- the DOJ to you.

But understand, Dennis Montgomery gave us no evidence

that showed the contents of any of those e-mails except one

sentence from Mr. Popolizio's e-mail that talked about

something about his daughter and a soccer game.

It's a very long story. I don't think you have

time -- I can tell it in --

Q. I don't want to hear it, but I will let you tell it later

because we'll decide if we're going to take this up later.

But in your description of the investigation I didn't

hear anything about the DOJ at all. So why would

Mr. Montgomery have been looking at my computer to see if the



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

17:11:58

17:12:15

17:12:38

17:13:05

17:13:17

Sheridan - Exam by Court, Melendres v. Arpaio, 4/24/15 1000

DOJ was sending me e-mails?

A. Okay. Here's where the plot thickens a little bit with

Mr. Montgomery. Mr. Montgomery worked for the CIA. And I

don't remember the years, but it was '07 to '10 for a few

years, and he took --

Q. When you say '7 to '10 for a few years, I don't -- I didn't

understand that.

A. 2007 to 2010, sometime -- I may have the dates wrong,

because this has been a few years, and I've had other things on

my mind since this thing kind of got cold.

He would -- when he worked for the CIA, he pulled data

from American citizens for the CIA. I mean, we heard a lot

about this a few years ago; it was very much in the media. And

he said he was one of the individuals that was tasked with

doing that, and he knew that was incorrect, it was wrong, and

so he made backup copies that he took and he kept. And he was

mining that data to find these e-mail breaches, to find the

bank information that he originally came to us with.

Q. Well, so he found information that the DOJ had sent a

communication to my computer?

A. Something to that effect, yes.

Q. And he brought that to you, and did he have the actual

content of the communication?

A. No, sir.

Q. How did he know -- how did he arrive at the conclusion that
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the DOJ had accessed my computer?

A. Again, we were always very skeptical of what he was giving

us. However, he was giving us information on occasion that was

credible.

We had a seated justice in Washington -- I can't

recall his name; I have it written down on my pad, Your

Honor -- that is a member of the FISA court in Washington, D.C.

We had Mr. Mon -- because the sheriff and I were concerned

about the CIA wiretapping our phones. This justice actually

confirmed that these were typical wiretap numbers, and so it

did give Mr. Montgomery a little more credibility with us.

And we continued to work with him, we continued to

keep him on our informant payroll, so to speak, as he was

producing information. But it became very slow, it became very

stale, and we finally realized that he was stringing us along.

Q. You know, with all due respect, we did hear the sheriff say

yesterday that he -- some pretty critical comments about the

Department of Justice. Do you remember those?

Maybe I misremember. I'll scratch that.

Let me ask you this: If in fact the sheriff thought

there might have been some improper collusion between me and

the Department of Justice, can you blame him if he wanted to

investigate that further?

A. Could I blame the sheriff?

Q. Yeah.
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A. Well, there was -- there was really nothing to think that

there was any collusion.

Q. Well, I certainly agree with that, but Mr. Montgomery was

an expensive proposition for the MCSO, was he not?

A. He was.

Q. Did you ever hear the sheriff describe his work as an

investigation of a conspiracy, or something of that nature,

between the Department of Justice and me?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you ever hear him describe it as an investigation of me

to anyone at the MCSO?

A. No, sir. As a matter of fact, I made quite sure, and I

believe in the presence of the sheriff, with detective --

Sergeant Anglin and Detective Mackiewicz when this information

came forward that they were not, it was -- and I don't normally

do this because it's not my style, but I told them: This is a

direct order from me. You are not to investigate any

information involving Judge Snow. If any further information

comes up, I want to know immediately. Nothing ever did

materialize.

Q. So Montgomery brought you some information?

A. Initial. And when we say "information," what Montgomery

would do, because -- I'll try and give you the two-second

version. When you send an e-mail, it goes out in bits and

pieces and it could go all over the world. It could go to
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Indonesia and back within seconds. And it comes back in your

computer, the system puts it back together.

Montgomery has that data, or he says he does, in

those -- in that format. He needs -- or he says he needed

supercomputers to put that information together. He doesn't

have one. He's got this huge one in his garage, and it takes

forever to run programs. And so he would come back with

information.

Our primary focus, Your Honor, was the fraud, the bank

fraud, the -- excuse me, the computer fraud of him hacking into

person -- people's personal bank accounts.

Q. Are you uncomfortable telling me who the target of this

investigation was?

A. No, because there were about 50,000 people. Some of them

very prominent people.

Q. Well, the sheriff told me that the target was the

Department of Justice. Do you remember that?

A. I -- I'm sorry, I don't.

Q. Oh. Who would have had to sign off on these

investigations?

A. I don't --

Q. When I say the target of the investigation, in other words,

he thought the Department of Justice was doing the bugging. Do

you remember that? And the investigation was trying to find

out the Department of Justice's bugging of judges and your
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defense attorney and your offices.

Do you remember him saying that?

A. I -- I don't remember.

Q. He didn't mention anything about banks, that I recall.

A. Well, when I think it's Dennis Montgomery and what we were

doing with him, it was really the bank fraud, it was the DOJ

wiretapping our phones going into the e-mail accounts of our

counsel, and there was something in there about your e-mail

also.

So, you know, the DOJ was on our radar screen because,

you know, personally if they did do an illegal wiretap on my

phone, I would have liked to -- I would like to know that.

Q. I would, too. You didn't call me.

A. Probably good thing.

And so that's how -- that's how that happened. So

when you say sign off on it, now, we were working with the

Arizona Attorney General's Office, as they were going to

prosecute this case if we were ever able to bring it to a

conclusion.

And it was also our intent and it is also our intent

to gather -- to complete gathering this information, because

Montgomery has promised us -- we're no longer paying him, we

haven't been paying him for a while -- some further

information, and to package this up and forward it to the

Federal Bureau of Investigation. That was going to be our --
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our final conclusion to tie up this case.

Q. Let me ask you, Montgomery's simply a computer consultant,

isn't he?

A. Well, that's what he is now. He did work for, and this had

been verified, and you can google his name and find all kinds

of crazy stuff about him, but there were some pieces of

information that were verified and credible also. So like many

informants that we deal with, there's a very shady side of them

and then there's also a very credible side for them.

Q. Well, why in the world did you have to designate him as a

confidential informant if there isn't anything he was doing

that was confidential was there?

A. Well, he was working with us confidentially.

Q. Well, why can't you just hire him as a consultant?

A. Because he was -- well, I don't know. This is the way we

handled him.

Q. Well, you don't have -- there's certain protections from

disclosure if you designate somebody as a confidential

informant, aren't there?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That don't apply to just consultants?

A. That's correct.

Q. So I can do a public information request, you gotta give me

your consultants, but you don't have to give me your

confidential informants, do you?
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A. No, but when the -- somebody leaks to members of the media

who he is, he's no longer confidential.

Q. Well, but what was he doing that he needed to be

confidential for?

A. Well, it could have shown --

Q. He hadn't infiltrated organized crime, had he?

A. Could have shown that either the Department of Justice or

the CIA was breaching American citizens' personal information,

and he had at least 50,000, that I remember, of citizens that

lived here in Maricopa County.

Q. But I still don't understand. Do you have a definition of

what a confidential informant is anywhere in your operations

manual?

A. Yes, sir, we do.

Q. And is it written so broadly that Dennis Montgomery

qualifies?

A. I believe so.

Q. Who all has to sign off -- you purchased a bunch of

equipment for him.

A. We did, but we never gave it to him.

Q. You authorized travel and overtime and pay for your

detectives to go to Seattle?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why were you doing this out of Seattle?

A. That's where he lives.
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Q. Why did your detectives have to go to Seattle?

A. That's where his massive computer system is.

Q. Who -- did they have to be there with him?

A. Well, that was always the discussion, because we wanted to

be there when he found the information. And he worked a lot

harder when our detectives were there than when they weren't.

Q. Was it worth paying their overtime and travel and all those

expenses?

A. Well, now that we look back, and hindsight's 20/20,

probably not.

Q. Let me ask this: Did you ever get any referrals that you

handled within PSB related to this investigation?

A. I don't believe so, no, sir.

THE COURT: Well, I thank you for your patience. We

will probably be resuming this matter in June, but I think it's

time to let you go. Thank you.

THE WITNESS: Thank you, Your Honor.

MS. WANG: Your Honor, I did have redirect. Do you

want me just to defer that till June?

THE COURT: I had assumed you were going to redirect.

How long is it? I assumed you were going to defer. I'm sorry.

MS. WANG: I'm happy to defer the redirect, Your

Honor.

THE COURT: I think it makes sense. We've gone pretty

late in the day.




